

Systematic Literature Review on Multi-Paradigm Modelling for Cyber-Physical Systems

Ankica Barisic, Dušan Savić, Rima Al-Ali, Ivan Ruchkin, Dominique Blouin, Antonio Cicchetti, Raheleh Eslampanah, Oksana Nikiforova, Mustafa Abshir, Moharram Challenger, et al.

► To cite this version:

Ankica Barisic, Dušan Savić, Rima Al-Ali, Ivan Ruchkin, Dominique Blouin, et al.. Systematic Literature Review on Multi-Paradigm Modelling for Cyber-Physical Systems. [Technical Report] COST European Cooperation in Science and Technology. 2019. hal-03168834

HAL Id: hal-03168834 https://hal.science/hal-03168834v1

Submitted on 14 Mar 2021

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.



ICT COST Action IC1404

Systematic Literature Review on Multi-Paradigm Modelling for Cyber-Physical Systems

Ankica Barišić, Dušan Savić, Rima Al-Ali, Ivan Ruchkin, Dominique Blouin, Antonio Cicchetti, Raheleh Eslampanah, Oksana Nikiforova, Mustafa Abshir, Moharram Challenger, Claudio Gomes, Ferhat Erata, Bedir Tekinerdogan, Vasco Amaral, Miguel Goulao

Deliverable: WG4.4

Core Team

University Nova Libon, Portugal University of Belgrade, Serbia Telecom ParisTech, France Charles University, Czech Republic Riga Technical University, Latvia Wageningen University, Latvia Wageningen University, Netherlands Mälardalen University, Sweden Ege University, Turkey Carnegie Mellon University, United States University of Antwerp, Belgium Izmir University of Economics, Turkey

Document Info

Deliverable Dissemination Doc's Lead Partner Date Version Pages WG4.4 Restricted NOVA-LINCS December 24, 2018 1.0 71



Contents

1	Intr	roduction	1
	1.1	Keywords and definitions	1
	1.2	Research Method	4
	1.3	Related Work	5
2	Pro	tocol	7
	2.1	Protocol Definition	7
		2.1.1 Research Questions	7
		2.1.2 Data sources and search strategy	8
		2.1.3 Study selection criteria	8
		2.1.4 Study quality assessment	9
		2.1.5 Data Extraction Form	10
	2.2	Protocol Validation	13
		2.2.1 Query testing	13
		2.2.2 Validation survey with a COST action members	14
		2.2.3 Pilot session with reviewers	16
3	Per	forming the SLR	19
	3.1	ReLis platform	19
		3.1.1 Motivation and Description of ReLiS	19
		3.1.2 ReLiS-supported process	20
	3.2	Roles and Responsibilities	21
	3.3	Screening phase	25
	3.4	Data Extraction phase	27
		3.4.1 Classification preparation	27
4	Res	ults	31
	4.1	Quality assessment of classified studies	31
	4.2	Modelling approaches for building CPS	35
		4.2.1 Reported models and meta-models	36
		4.2.2 Reported tools and modelling languages	37
		4.2.3 Reported processes	38
	4.3	Multi-paradigm modelling approaches	39
		4.3.1 Extent of reported model-driven development	40
	4.4	Domain-specificity of modelling approaches	41
		4.4.1 Application domains	42
	4.5	Profiles of stakeholders involved in modelling of the CPS	43



	4.5.1	Modeler's background knowledge	44
	4.5.2	Technical background of the authors	44
5	Conclusio	n and Future Work	47
6	Acknowle	lgements	48
A	Protocol V	alidation Survey	49
	A.1 Surve	y Solicitation	49
	A.2 Surve	y Results	49
Bi	bliography		55



1 Introduction

This document reports on the Systematic Literature Review (SLR) of Multi-Paradigm modelling for Cyber-Physical Systems (MPM4CPS) of Working Group4 on Education and Dissemination of the ICT COST Action IC1404. The goal of this SLR is to systematically describe the latest original research studies on MPM4CPS, and in particular the models, meta-models, languages, tools, and processes that enable MPM4CPS.

In this chapter, the report describes the major underlying concepts that support multiparadigm modelling of CPS, explains our research method, and gives an overview of the related work.

In the following chapters, we give a detailed description of our study protocol (chapter 2), of the platform and the process behind the study (chapter 3), and of the study results (chapter 4). The conclusion of the report can be found in chapter 5, followed by Appendix A with the description and the results of the protocol validation survey.

1.1 Keywords and definitions

A model is an abstraction of a system that highlights the system's relevant aspects, and is often used in place of the system under development (Kühne (2006)). Thus, a model can be considered a simplified representation (or view) of a system. Modelling is a fundamental technique used in various Engineering fields, as well as other areas such as Physics, Mathematics, Biology, Economy, Politics and Philosophy (Favre (2005)).

The act of modelling involves three distinct concepts (Lee (2015)): the subject that is being modeled, the model itself, and the modelling paradigm (also known as the *formalism*). The subject of modelling is typically either present (or potentially present) in the world — as in the case of scientific disciplines — or is intentionally designed to be deployed in the world — as in the case of engineering disciplines. Models differ in the levels of abstraction. A more abstract model omits more information about the subject being modeled.

Formalisms are mathematical approaches to describing models, consisting of an abstract syntax and a formal semantics (Broman et al. (2012)). *Modelling languages* are concrete implementations of formalisms, expressing systems in a formal and precise way by using diagrams, rules, symbols, signs, letters, numerals, and so on. A modelling language may implement more than one formalism by combining their syntax and semantics. Finally, a language is associated with tools to support it, such as parsers, simulators, model-checkers, and code generators. A *meta-model* is a definition of a modelling language, which should be defined in a more abstract language to describe new modelling languages themselves. The meta-modelling language is a modelling language in its own right, and its meta-model is referred to as a meta-meta-model¹.

Model-Driven Development (MDD) is a software development approach that uses models as specifications of software and relies on transformations of those models to source code for software development ². MDD is successfully applied in software engineering, and it has been advocated as an effective way to deal with software complexity. In MDD, models are first-class artifacts used by the developers at multiple levels of abstraction. The source code for the system's implementation is primarily generated from models, and sometimes can be not edited by

¹A. Kleppe, S. Warmer, and W. Bast. MDA Explained - The Model Driven Architecture: Practice and Promise. Addison-Wesley, Boston, 2003

²A. Kleppe, S. Warmer, and W. Bast. MDA Explained - The Model Driven Architecture: Practice and Promise. Addison-Wesley, Boston, 2003



the developers. Therefore, creation, debugging, and testing of models are the primary activities in this approach to software development.

Cyber-Physical Systems (CPS) are systems that integrate computation, networking, and physical processes. The key characteristic of CPS is their seamless integration of both hardware and software resources for computational, communication and control purposes, all of them co-designed with the physical engineered components (Lun et al. (2016)). The term cyber-physical systems was coined in 2006 in a workshop organized by the National Science Foundation³ whose participants were selected experts from the USA and European Union who advocated to use this term in order to emphasis importance the integration of digital computation with physical processes. Over the last decade, CPS have also been referred to as embedded or mechatronic systems.

The intellectual challenge of CPS lies in the intersection (not the union) of the physical and the cyber domains of engineering. CPS combines engineering methods from mechanical, environmental, civil, electrical, bio-medical, chemical, aeronautical, and industrial engineering with the models and methods of computer science (Lee (2015)). Therefore, engineering CPS requires trans-disciplinary approaches merging different engineering disciplines. An important challenge of CPS is to conjoin the classic models from computer science (programs, graphs, object models) with the abstractions typically used for physical processes including (differential equations and stochastic processes). Currently, while many research efforts are in progress, there is no common modelling approach yet to all of the involved disciplines in CPS.

CPS technology is typically based on the foundations of embedded systems, sensor technology, and network technology. Depending on the context of a particular CPS, the following requirements may be relevant (Liu et al. (2017)):

- Reliability and fault-tolerance
- Safe concurrency and distributed computing
- Real-time schedulability
- Efficiency of information processing
- Autonomous operation.
- Physical and cyber security
- Dynamic reorganization and adaptation
- Interoperability of heterogeneous components and systems

A model of a CPS comprises models of physical processes as well as models of the software, computation, and networks. Physical processes are typically viewed as multiple parallel processes related to mechanical motion, energy exchange, electrical dynamics, and so on. Measuring and controlling the dynamics of these processes by orchestrating actions that influence the processes are the main tasks of CPS (Derler et al. (2012a)). Digital computation and communication is characterized by discretization errors and delays in time, which are major modelling concerns for CPS software and networks.

A common model for CPS is a *hybrid system*, where physical processes are represented as continuous-time models, and computations are described as discrete-transition models such as state machines, dataflow models, synchronous/reactive models, and/or discrete event models. Continuous-time models are typically analyzed with solvers that numerically approximate the solutions to differential equations (Derler et al. (2012a)). There are many challenges in defining good hybrid systems modelling languages. These challenges include ensuring that

³NSF Workshop on Cyber-Physical Systems, Austin, Texas, http://varma.ece.cmu.edu/cps/

models of deterministic systems are indeed determinate. It is also challenging to accurately represent distinct events that are causally related but occur at the same time (Derler et al. (2012a)).

The development activities for modern complex systems, and in particular CPS, encompass multiple technical domains and teams, where each team is using its own set of modelling languages for the aspects of the system that are relevant to that team. Thus, it is required to properly integrate these languages. Indeed, the experience shows that using a single language to cover all domains would lead to very large monolithic languages, not easily customized for the development environment and tools needed by development organizations. These considerations lead to *Multi-Paradigm Modelling (MPM*) of CPS — a school of thought that advocates the combination of reusable *modular* modelling languages with different paradigms, using a single monolithic language for the whole system (Vangheluwe et al. (2002)).

MPM proposes to model every relevant part and aspect of a system explicitly, at the most appropriate level(s) of abstraction, using the most appropriate modelling formalism(s). The current approaches to MPM offer somewhat modular and incremental treatment of a single aspect of modelling languages or model operations. However, support for modelling large-scale complex CPS in a modular and incremental fashion, as required for industrial and practical contexts, is not offered so far. The literature review described in the rest of this document aims to survey and assess the state-of-the-art of MPM for CPS.

One of the recent efforts in MPM for CPS was the EU-based ICT COST Action IC1404 Multi-Paradigm modelling for Cyber-Physical Systems In the context of WG1 of this action, Al-Ali et al. (2017b) developed an ontology for the major concepts of CPS and CPS models has been developed by in the report on the the Framework to Relate / Combine Modelling Languages and Techniques (WG 1.2). In particular, this report presents three related ontologies: an ontology of CPS concepts (such as computational and physical components), an ontology of MPM concepts (such as formalism and logic), and finally an MPM for CPS ontology that combines the previous two. This literature review relies on these ontologies for definitions of MPM for CPS concepts.

For definition and interpretation of terms related to CPS and MPM, this literature review relies on three guiding documents, two of which are the deliverables of the aforementioned COST Action. The documents, referred to as D1, D2, and D3, are as follows:

- *D1:* State-of-the-Art on Current Formalisms used in Cyber-Physical Systems Development (WG 1.1, by Al-Ali et al.). This document provides a comprehensive collection of formalisms, languages, and tools used in CPS engineering. This document includes such formalisms as Bayesian networks and hybrid automata.
- *D2:* A Survey on Concepts, Applications, and Challenges in Cyber-Physical Systems (KSII Transations on Internet and Information Systems, Gunes et al. (2014)). This document is used as a reference for the definition of domains of application for CPS. The document includes such domains as smart manufacturing and air transportation.
- *D3:* CPS Profile Pilot Assessment (WG 4.3, by Goulão et al. (2016a)). This document describes an ontology of expert knowledge in CPS that applies to CPS engineers. The concepts both from formalisms and application domains are used to characterize the knowledge of CPS engineers. The document includes topics such as DSL foundations, Simulink, smart cities, and automotive systems.

More details on how these documents inform our research questions can be found in chapter 2.



1.2 Research Method

Systematic Literature Review (SLR) is a research method to obtain, evaluate, and interpret information related to a research question. A SLR provides an objective reliable, rigorous, and methodological manner to conduct some study. In this report, we conduct a SLR of multiparadigm modelling of Cyber-Physical Systems (CPS). This research aim requires accumulating a body of knowledge for various reasons, which are: 1) justifying the basis for future research, 2) learning as much as possible from other domains related to the topic, and 3) providing a basis for other researchers as well as students who consider learning about and contributing to this area.

The research objective of this SLR is to **identify and analyze multi-paradigm modelling approaches for CPS**. The expected results of the study will give an overview of the existing literature on multi-paradigm modelling of CPS. With this objective, we systematically investigate the research literature of this topic in the period between 2006-2017. The quest is to identify models, and implementations in a model-driven formal way that lends itself to a more systematic development of CPSs. Next is to summarize the state-of-the-art research trends, as well as to categorize proposed approaches, techniques, tools and methods for assessing and improving a multi-paradigm modelling of CPS.

The findings in the literature are to be mapped to the ontologies and their individuals that were introduced in a deliverable of WG1 (Al-Ali et al. (2017a)), in addition to identifying the topics that cover the interests of MPM4CPS engineers (Goulão et al. (2016b)). In context of WG4, it is necessary to map the capabilities that should be mastered by the CPS engineer, in particular: Map of fundamental CPS engineering knowledge; Map MPM4CPS knowledge; and Organize different profiles for the CPS Experts. The all-over result will contribute to construction of a course on MPM4CPS, which is expected to serve for education purpose.



Figure 1.1: Review Process Overview based on Kitchenham (2007)

In this SLR, we planned our SLR process as suggested by Kitchenham (2007) (See Figure 1.1). During pre-planning we identified related studies, relevant keywords and definitions, which we further use to define our protocol. In the planning phase, reported in Chapter 2, the review protocol is developed as well as research strategy. The protocol was validated through a survey which was provided to members of COST action, and through pilot review session with some of reviewers. During conducting phase, which is reported in Chapter 5, the relevant research was identified two fold; (1) through automatic search over digital databases defined in protocol, and , (2) from the SLR on sustainability in modelling of CPS reported in Barišić and Cunha (2017). Articles obtained by automatic search passed screening phase, after which reviewers extracted required data. The data was further synthesized and quantitative results are reported in Chapter 4.

1.3 Related Work

Multiple systematic literature reviews have been produced on different topics in software engineering, but so far none has been conducted that investigates the multi-paradigm modelling of CPS. An original contribution of our effort is that for the first time in this research field, we have followed an SLR method to be as objective as possible in our selection of primary studies. However, we examine in detail SLR protocol from related work. Related studies provide the necessary instruments to replicate the study, or in our case to extend them to cover new research.

Lun et al. (2016) published Cyber-Physical Systems Security: a Systematic Mapping Study. This study aim at identifying, classifying, and analyzing existing research on CPS security in order to better understand how security is actually addressed when dealing with CPS. Authors empirically define a comparison framework for classifying methods or techniques for CPS security. From the collected data authors observe that even if solutions for CPS security has emerged only recently, in the last years they are gaining a sharply increasing scientific interest across heterogeneous publication venues. The systematic map of research on CPS security provided here is based on, for instance, application fields, various system components, related algorithms and models, attacks characteristics and defense strategies. Following string was used to obtain a primary studies: (('cyber physical' OR 'cyber-physical' OR cyberphysical OR 'net-worked control') AND system*) OR CPS OR NCS) AND (attack* OR secur* OR protect*))

Gunes et al. (2014), presents A Survey on Concepts, Applications, and Challenges in Cyber-Physical Systems. In order to shed some light on the origins, the terminology, relatively similar concepts, and today's challenges in CPS, authors presented a survey on related literature discussing practical applications and dominant research domains. Since CPS is a very broad research area, CPSs span diverse applications in different scales. Therefore, each application necessitates strong reasoning capabilities with respect to unique system-level requirements/challenges, the integration of cutting-edge technologies into the related application, and overall impact on the real world. Authors conclude that existing legacy systems have limited awareness of the CPS requirements, and that revolutionary design approaches are necessary to achieve the overall system objectives.

Derler et al. (2012b), focused on the challenges of modelling CPSs that arise from the heterogeneity, concurrency, and sensitivity to timing of such systems. A model of a CPS comprises models of physical processes as well as models of the software, computation platforms, and networks. One of the main challenges is to keep model components consistent and to check for correctness of connections between components. As the model grows, the possibility of error is also growing. In this paper, authors identified three types of errors: 1) unit errors,2) semantic errors, and 3) transposition errors. Also, authors analyzed the state of the art in existing tools and methods.



Hehenberger et al. (2016) discussed the importance of design, modelling, simulation and integration of CPS and focused on methods and applications. The authors emphasized that designing CPS requires a multi-disciplinary development process during which designers should focus on integration and interaction physical and computational components. Further, in this paper the authors presented case studies and current best practice from industry.

Al-Ali (2017) conducted a systematic mapping review to find the domains and the challenges related to collective behavior only that industry targets nowadays. The primary studies that they used are EU projects since 2007. The results of the study showed that the most targeted domain is automation and the most addressed challenge is resources. Moreover, domains such as transport, cloud, energy, and smart grids lack variety of challenges, while many other domains do not target any challenges (telecommunication, medical and manufacturing domains).



2 Protocol

In this chapter we identify the main research questions and we produce a well-defined review protocol that describes in detail the various steps we had to follow. The produced protocol has been further evaluated and refined according to the obtained feedback and is presented in this section in the same form that was used in the conduction phase.

2.1 Protocol Definition

2.1.1 Research Questions

The overall objective of our study is to *provide an overview of the current state of the art of approaches supporting the modelling of CPS and identify ones which apply a multi-paradigm modelling approach.* The main research questions are the following:

- RQ1 Which modelling approaches exist for building CPS?
- **RQ2** What are the existing approaches that combine different multi-modelling formalism for CPS?
- RQ3 Which application domains have been considered?
- RQ4 What is profile of person which perform modelling of CPS?

Furthermore, we performed PICOC analysis which specified in detail our search for evidence:

Population: The population is composed of studies in which we found reports about works for modelling CPS and/or approaches for multi-paradigm modelling. No specific industry, system or application domain were considered.

Intervention: The review searches for reports of methodologies for multi-paradigm modelling, namely focusing on two important factors, which are: Reported for CPS; and Reported for similar products and applicable to CPS. We also search for the methodology/tool/technology/procedure that support the modelling of CPS.

Comparison: Not applicable.

Outcomes: Outcomes should point to techniques, methods and metrics that can be used to address the multi-paradigm modelling of CPS.

Context:All practitioners: Academy and Industry.

The objective of **RQ1** is to analyze and classify primary studies, which report on modelling of CPS, and to find among existing approaches if there are ones which take sustainability of CPS into account. It is expected to involve retrieving the type of models used to describe the approach or the system, a list of modelling languages and tools which were developed to support the approach or were used by the reported approach, and determine if they report a systematic process for application of the given approach.

The objective of **RQ2** is to analyze and classify among the studies which report on modelling of CPS ones which report multi-paradigm modelling. It is expected to retrieve the information to which extend is MDD approach complete, which part of CPS is modeled, which MPM formalism are used and what are integration mechanisms for the given models.

The objective of **RQ3** is to analyze the application domains of modelling approaches for CPS. We find approach to be general if they are applicable to CPS in general, while in most cases we expect to find the domain-specific solutions (e.g. smart grid, intelligent transport).



Finally, the **RQ4** objective is to extract the profile of the person(s) that perform the modelling for the CPSs. It is necessary to identify if the study report the stakeholders involved in modelling and identify their background knowledge, as well as technical background of the authors.

Defining research questions was started during the 1st STSM while Dusan Savic, visited Universidade Nova de Lisboa, in period from 16th to 25th December 2015 Savic (2015).

After that, during the Vienna Working Group Meeting ¹ (15-16 April 2016) these research questions was presented to participants.

2.1.2 Data sources and search strategy

We obtained data for this SLR twofold:

- Using automatic search over digital libraries the period from **2006-2017** as it is indicated within related research that interest on topic of CPS development boosted from 2006.
- Manually extracting the primary studies from another SLR reported in Barišić and Cunha (2017) for period **2011-2017**. This study intersect with ours by heaving the same RQ1 and RQ3, however the search string was more wide and included the sustainability concern. We selected the studies which reported modelling approaches for building CPS (RQ1).

Data sources for automatic search were selected in order to include the most relevant journal, conferences and international peer-reviewed workshops that are concerned with the topic of multi-paradigm modelling or CPS. For the automated we selected the following digital libraries:

- 1. ACM Digital Library (ACM)
- 2. IEEExplore (IEEE)
- 3. Science Direct (SD)
- 4. Springer Link (SL)
- 5. Scopus

We used the following research string to obtain primary studies:

("multi-paradigm" OR "multi-formalism" OR "heterogeneous formalism" OR "unified modelling formalism" OR "multi-model language") AND ((("cyber physical" OR CPS OR "cyberphysical" OR cyberphysical OR smart) AND system*) OR CPS)AND ("modelling approach" OR "modeling approach" OR "integrate modelling" OR "integrate modeling" OR "model driven" OR "model-driven") AND ("software engineering" OR "software system")

2.1.3 Study selection criteria

Table 2.1: Inclusion criteria

Id	Criteria
I1	Publication date from 1/1/2006 - 31/12/2017
I2	Relevance with respect to research questions
I3	Explicit mentioning of modelling of cyber-physical system
I4	Papers that report a methodology, metric or formalism for modelling of CPS
I5	Analysis of relevant application domains for modelling of CPS

To find the right publications, which answer our research questions, we define the Inclusion Criteria as presented in Table 2.1. The criteria are to include peer-reviewed articles, reporting on modelling of CPS and which are reported from 2006 till the end of 2017. The Exclusion Criteria are presented in Table 2.2. The studies that are not considered could be: part of informal literature, present duplicated work or its extension, or not written in English. The

¹http://mpm4cps.eu/workshops/16.04.15-16.Vienna

Id	Criteria
E1	Informal literature (powerpoint slides, conference reviews, informal reports) and sec-
	ondary/tertiary studies (reviews, editorials, abstracts, keynotes, posters, surveys, books)
E2	Duplicated papers
E3	Papers that did not apply to research questions i.e. they did not report the method for
	modelling approach for CPS
E4	Papers with the same content in different paper versions
E5	Papers written a language other than English
E6	Purely hardware, or electrical engineering perspective papers
E7	Secondary study

 Table 2.2: Exclusion criteria

inclusion and exclusion criteria are applied during selecting primary studies obtained by automatic search over digital databases (the screening phase) to the titles, keywords and abstract of primary studies which were identified by the search strategy. This studies were temporarily included but might be excluded during the data analysis (the classification phase) when the whole publication had been read.

2.1.4 Study quality assessment

We reused quality assessment criteria from the related work Barišić and Cunha (2017). To have means to reflect a confidence of the reviewer, we used two self-assessment points (see Table 2.3). In a case that a reviewer is not very confident about the paper, the additional reviewer was asked to make revision and the assessment scores will be discussed.

Table 2.3: Self Assessment Criteria

Id	Self-Assessment Criteria	Score
SA1	Reviewers confidence about content of the	1 = Very confident
	study	0.5 = Confident
SA2	Reviewers confidence about quality of the	0 = Not very confident
	study	

The quality assessment list presented in Table 2.4 has been used to assess the quality of studies after the data analysis. We did not define any exclusion criteria regarding the quality of the study, but we find it meaningful to present statistics and observe the impact of the study. Therefore, the list served as a compliment to extracted data related to the research questions and was used later in result analysis.

To characterize a first criteria (relevance of journal or conference), we decided to use **CORE2018**^{2}, ³ ranks list. Venues which were not registered at the portal we marked as '0-Not relevant'.

For the second criteria, we took a number of citations reported by *Google Scholar*⁴. * apply for paper published before 2014; while ** for paper published 2014 and after. We did not define any exclusion criteria regarding the quality of study, but we find it meaningful to present statistics at the end and observe if it does make any impact.

²http://portal.core.edu.au/conf-ranks/

³http://portal.core.edu.au/jnl-ranks/

⁴https://scholar.google.pt/



Id	Assessment Criteria	Scale
		1 = Very relevant (A)
QA1	What is the relevance of the paper according to the	0.5 = Relevant (B)
	conference/journal where it was published?	0 = Not so relevant
		1 = High (*>5; **>0)
QA2	What is the relevance of the citation according to	0.5 = Medium (*>0; **=0)
	its related citations?	0 = Low (*=0)
		1 = Explicitly
QA3	How clearly is the problem of study described?	0.5 = Vaguely
		0 = No description
		1 = With references
QA4	How clearly is the research context stated?	0.5 = Generally
		0 = Vaguely
		1 = Empirical foundation
OA5	How rigorously is the method evaluated?	0.66 = Case study
QAS		0.33 = Lessons Learned
		0 = No evaluation
		1 = Explicitly
QA6	How explicitly are the contributions presented?	0.5 = Generally
		0 = No presentation
		1 = With recommendations
QA7	How explicitly are the insights and issues for fu-	0.5 = Generally
	ture work stated?	0 = No statement

 Table 2.4: Quality Assessment Criteria (*published before 2014, **published 2014 and after)

2.1.5 Data Extraction Form

Data Extraction Form is defined in a way to collect the information in the primary study which can present the answer to the four research questions defined in Section 2.1.1 (See Table 2.5).

For all questions defined in data extraction for, reviewers were instructed that if the answer to the question is 'Yes' it is necessary to write the description in text box 'What it is?'. For questions which have an answer only TextBox (TB) field it was necessary to fill it in. Specific suggestions for filling the TB were given under each question. Reviewers were also provided with following documents to assist them while answering the questions: D1 (Al-Ali et al. (2017a)); D2 (Gunes et al. (2014)); D3 (Goulão et al. (2016a)).

For **RQ1** *Which modelling approaches exist for building CPS?*, we are identifying if the paper report modelling approach for building CPS, and if it does we register if it reports a model/metamodel, a tool or a process. The **Q1** *Does the paper report modelling approaches for building CPS?* is answered by selecting Yes/No (Y/N), and the TextBox (TB) is provided so the reviewer can report in more details which modelling approach is provided. It can be any model for any phase of building the CPS. If the answer to this question is NO then the paper should be excluded from the classification so it is not necessary to proceed with the classification. Following question, **Q1.1** *Does the paper report a model/meta-model?*, has Y/N single choice option and a TB. The reviewer is expected to report if meta-model or instance model is presented for approach or for the use case, as well as to specify which kind of model is presented. Further, the **Q1.2** *Does the paper report a tool/language?* has Y/N single choice option an a TB. It is possible that paper reports on (1) tool/language which was built to support the approach OR/AND (2) tool/language(s) which are used in the approach. It was necessary to report on both, by categorizing them with (1)/(2) option. Catalog of modelling tools and languages was given in Section

RQ1	Which modelling approaches exist for building CPS?		
Q1	Does the paper report modelling approaches for building CPS?		
Q1.1	.1 Does the paper report a model/meta-model?		
Q1.2	Does the paper report a tool/language?		
Q1.3	Does the paper report the model of the adopted process?		
RQ2	Which modelling approaches for addressing multi-paradigm modelling of CPS are		
	presented?		
Q2	Does the paper report a multi-paradigm modelling approach?		
Q2.1	To which extent the paper present a complete model-driven development approach?		
Q2.2	Q2.2 Which part of the CPS is modeled?		
Q2.3 Which formalism(s) is(are) used for modelling the CPS?			
Q2.4	2.4 What is the integration mechanism for the presented models?		
RQ3	3 Which application domains have been considered?		
Q3	Is the approach domain-specific?		
Q3.1	Which application domain is addressed?		
RQ4	What can be inferred to be the profile of the person(s) that perform the modelling		
	for the CPS?		
Q4	Does the paper report the actors/stakeholders involved in modelling of the CPS?		
Q4.1	Does the paper report the modeler's background knowledge?		
Q4.2	What is(are) the technical background of the authors?		

Table 2.5: Data Extraction Questions

2.3 and Section 2.4 of document D1 Al-Ali et al. (2017a). Reviewers were also expected to report if the used tool/language already belongs to a list by indicate the section number if it was part of the Catalog. Finally, the **Q1.3** *Does the paper report the model of the adopted process?* has as well Y/N single choice option an a TB. It was expected to report if modelling was performed in a structured way and is that way described (preferably in a formal fashion, using languages such as BPMN or is provided in narrative form (step by step manner)).

For **RQ2** Which modelling approaches for addressing multi-paradigm modelling of CPS are presented?, we identify if the paper report approach which fits in multi-paradigm modelling, and identify scope of approach, modeled CPS parts, used formalisms, and integration mechanisms. For Q2 Does the paper report a multi-paradigm modelling approach?, we identify if the approach using different views of same model or provide ones for different models, is it using DEVS, Statecharts, Petri-nets, or other formalisms all together. The question Q2.1 To which extent the paper present a complete model-driven development approach? requires to choose the component of supporting tools: editors, generators and/or transformations to artifacts (prone to be used for simulation platforms, or execution environments). The next question Q2.2 Which part of the CPS is modeled? requires from the reviewer to select certain component of CPS, for which the modelling approach is applied or offered in the research, e.g. Hardware, Network, Environment, or Software. Further question **Q2.3** Which formalism(s) is(are) used for modelling the CPS? is mandatory to be filled if the answer to Q2 is YES and requires to select the formalism from the list of formalisms given in Section 2.2. of document D1 Al-Ali et al. (2017a). Reviewers are asked to indicate the name of the formalism and the section. Finally, the question **Q2.4** What is the integration mechanism for the presented models? requires to identify is the integration achieved by using for instance mega-modelling approach, models merge, links, or other.

For **RQ3** *Which application domains have been considered?*, we register if the approach is domain- specific, and if it is, we want to know which application domain is addressed. The





Q3 *Is the approach domain-specific?* is answered by selecting Yes/No (Y/N). In our case the approach is general if it is applicable to CPS in general, however sometimes the approach is built for a specific domain (e.g. for smart grid, train transport etc., therefore, in the TextBox reviewer should specify the domain by the exact wording used in the paper for approach specification, or the case studies in which approach was applied (e.g. smart grid, self-driving vehicle etc.) In the text box **Q3.1** *Which application domain is addressed?* the reviewer can select the domain from the following:

- Smart Manufacturing
- Emergency Response
- Air Transportation
- Critical Infrastructure
- Health Care and Medicine
- Intelligent Transportation
- Robotic for Service
- Other

If Other is selected, it is necessary to specify how reviewer would name this new domain category in the separate text box. It is possible that approach can be applicable to several domains, therefore it is possible to make maximum 4 choices, as well as to add new domain suggestions.

Finally, for **RQ4** *What can be inferred to be the profile of the person(s) that perform the modelling for the CPS?*, we explicitly register if the paper reports who is involved in the modelling of CPS and what is the profile. The question **Q4** *Does the paper report the actors/stakeholders involved in modelling of the CPS?* is answered by selecting Yes/No (Y/N) based on the information in the paper about people reported to be involved in the development of approach (analysis, design, implementation, evaluation...) for instance end user of approach, or the CPS system. Reviewer should categorize the participants, by following:

- CPS engineer
- CPS user
- Domain expert
- Evaluation expert
- Other

The provided categorization is general and it is possible to select several categories and suggest new ones by selecting the Other. It is possible to choose 3 options, but also suggest additional category in a separate TextBox. The question **Q4.1** *Does the paper report the modelers background knowledge*? is answered by selecting Yes/No (Y/N) and reviewer is asked to report on background knowledge topics and try to relate them to the ontology presented in the CPS Profile study in document (D3) Goulão et al. (2016a). For **Q4.2** *What is(are) the technical background of the authors?* the technical background should be specified for each author from their public profile (e.g. University/Institute official page, Google Scholar, Research Gate, LinkedIn). Reviewers are asked to provide areas of expertise for authors, selecting them from the following:

- Electrical Engineering
- Mechanical Engineering
- Physics

- Software Engineering
- Other

The provided categorization is general and it was possible to select several categories and suggest new ones by selecting the Other. It was possible to choose 3 options from drop down menu, but also suggest more in TextBox.

2.2 Protocol Validation

This section describes how the proposed protocol has been validated with three techniques:

- Query testing:
- Validation survey:
- Pilot session:

2.2.1 Query testing

The research goal of this SLR (section 1.2) and the concepts behind it (section 1.1) were used as a basis for the creation of a search string in which to identify primary studies. In order to clearly define keywords, we analyzed all of our research questions separately, and divided the keywords into three main groups:

- Cyber-physical systems
- modelling approaches for cyber-physical systems
- Combination of modelling approaches for cyber-physical systems

For each of these groups we created a search sub-string, and then integrated the sub-strings into the final search query.

The first group is consisted of terms referring to cyber-physical system such as cyber-physical system, embedded system, real-time system, hybrid system, sensor networks system, smart system, critical system and we created a first part of the our research string is a combination of the main item.

The second group was included the keywords that referred to modelling and simulation terms (modelling and simulation, model-driven, modelling approach, model-approach) which we obtained the second part from our research string.

Finally, the third group were referred to formalism and paradigm like multi-paradigm, multi-formalism, heterogeneous formalism, unified modelling formalism, multi-model language.

In order to find the final, most appropriate combination of these sub-strings that presents our final search query, we defined several versions of query strings and conducted searching process in all the selected databases reported in Section 2.1.2. These versions were evaluated in a survey discussed in the next section.

Testing these search queries was one of the tasks that we performed from April 14-30, 2018 during the 3rd STSM while Ankica Barisic (Barišić (2018)) visited University of Belgrade, Faculty of Organizational Sciences.

The three versions of search queries that we chose are given below:

Q1 - "(""cyber physical"" OR ""cyber-physical"" OR CPS OR cyberphysical OR smart OR critical) AND ((""integrate model*"" OR ""composable model*"") OR (""integrate simulation"" OR ""composable simulation"")) AND (""model driven"" OR model-driven OR ""model based"" OR modelbased)".



Database	Q1	Q2	Q3
ACM	44	4	200
IEEE	42	0	48
SD	80	8	25
SL	294	25	39
SCOPUS	66	97	33
Total	526	134	345

 Table 2.6: Primary studies obtained using automatic search

Q2 - ("multi-paradigm" OR "multi-formalism" OR "heterogeneous formalism" OR "unified modelling formalism" OR "multi-model language") AND (("cyber physical" OR "cyber-physical" OR cyberphysical OR smart) AND system*) AND ("modelling approach" OR "modeling approach" OR "integrate modelling" OR "integrate modeling" OR "model driven" OR "model-driven") AND ("software engineering" OR "software system").

Q3 - "("multi-paradigm" OR "multi-formalism" OR ""heterogeneous formalism"") AND (""Modeling and Simulation"" OR ""Integrate modeling"") AND (""cyber-physical system "" OR ""hybrid system"" OR ""embedded system"" OR ""real-time system"" OR ""smart system"")".

Table 2.6 presents the results of the final set of relevant papers selected from the data sources obtained by the **Q1**, **Q2** and **Q3** research queries. Each row shows the number of papers obtained from a particular source that resulted from each search query. From **Q1**, we got 526 total papers, from **Q3** 345 total papers, and from **Q2** 134 total papers.

Next, we discuss the survey in which the protocol was validated and the query was selected.

2.2.2 Validation survey with a COST action members

The purpose of this survey is to evaluate the protocol proposed to conduct a SLR study on Multi-Paradigm modelling of Cyber-Physical Systems.

We performed the internal validation of protocol and announced the survey during a meeting session with our group members during COST Action meeting in Riga on April, 26-27 2018 ⁵. Before inviting all members of COST action to participate in thus survey, we introduced the participants to the SLR objective. For this purpose, we created a Google sheets survey ⁶ that describes the key aspects of SLR (presented in Section2.1).

For each of these aspects we created a separate Google sheet. The *SLR Basic Data* sheet contained information about SLR objective, SLR requirements, SLR team and list of defined activities and users who are responsible for these activities. The *Research Questions* sheet contains information by following PICOC criteria: Population, Intervention, Comparison, Outcomes and Context. The *SLR Search Sources* sheet contains information about database library, while search keywords and queries are presented in the sheet with the same name. The other three sheets presents inclusion and exclusion criteria, quality assessment strategy and data extraction strategy, respectively. Each question in survey was linked with particular Google sheet.

A survey form was created with several parts. The first part provides general information about the participants and their expertise concerning the SLR. The main part of survey is related to the key aspects of SLR such as *Research questions, Search sources, Search keywords and queries, Inclusion and exclusion criteria, Data extraction strategy* and *Quality assessment strategy* that we want to validate.

⁵http://mpm4cps.eu/workshops/18.04.26-27.Riga

 $^{^{6}} https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/1X0B7G1RqNWvsNYILY6UPRPq34V8btbk-EVts-pVltgM$

Systematic Literature Review on Multi-Paradigm Modelling for Cyber-Physical System

A total of 10 participants participated in this survey. Five participants chose the answer of *I am knowledgeable in SLRs, though not an expert,* three of them selected the answer *I am a lecturer and/or publisher of SLR,* while the remaining two participants chose the answer *I am not an expert. My evaluation is that of an informed outsider* on the question about their overall expertise concerning the SLRs (see Figure 2.1 for an illustration). Figure 2.2 shows the names of the participants.



Figure 2.1: What is your overall expertise concerning the SLRs?

Reviewer complete name: 10 одговора
Ivan Ruchkin
Paulo Carreira
Antonio Cicchetti
Claudio Gomes
Vasco Amaral
Dominique Blouin
Ferhat Erata
Mauro lacono
Bedir Tekinerdogan
Miquel Goulão

Figure 2.2: Participants of the validation survey

Here we focus on the part of the validation survey for *Search keywords and queries*. The remaining detailed information about the validation survey can be found in Appendix A.

This query-related section of the survey contains five questions. Four of them are related to the question which search query best fits the objective of SLR, while the last question is openended, and allows participants to give us some suggestions regarding proposed search queries. For question Q1⁷: (Figure 2.3) using the Likert 5-point scale, one participant disagreed (point 2), and one neither agreed or disagreed (point 3), three participants agreed (point 4), while 5 participants strongly agreed with this question.

The results for questions Q1, $Q2^8$ and $Q3^9$ are given in Figure 2.3.

The results in Figure 2.3 show that participants gave the greatest importance to query string **Q2** (45), while **Q1** and **Q3** had the same importance (42). These answers indicate that there is no significant difference in the importance of queries. However, if we look the result for the next question "*Which query in your opinion is a best fit for SLR objectives*" the difference is more noticeable. The results for this question (see Figure 2.4) shows the participants in survey; 7 participants proposed using **Q2**, while **Q1** proposed 2 participants, and 1 participant proposed **Q3**.

⁷Does the query S1 have the sufficient keywords to achieve SLR objectives?

⁸Does the query S2 have the sufficient keywords to achieve SLR objectives?

⁹Does the query S3 have the sufficient keywords to achieve SLR objectives?



Scale	Q1	Q2	Q3
(1)	0	0	0
(2)	1	0	0
(3)	1	1	2
(4)	3	3	4
(5)	5	6	4
Score	42	45	42



What query in your opinion is a best fit for SLR objectives



Figure 2.4: Choices of survey participants of the most fitting query for the SLR objectives

2.2.3 Pilot session with reviewers

After the survey was concluded, we refined the protocol in accordance to the obtained feedback. However, we found it was necessary to provide additional descriptions regarding answering each question related to data extraction. In order to provide comprehensive descriptions, we organized the special session dedicated to this task in context of WG4 during MPM4CPS workshop in Izmir, Turkey¹⁰, which took place between 17 and 19 of September 2018. All meeting participants helped in providing the appropriate descriptions to be provided to reviewers, regarding each question presented in Table 2.5.

As a follow up to the workshop meeting, we organized the pilot session with three reviewers, namely Raheleh Eslampanah, Moharram Challenger, and Mustafa Abshir, who volunteered to perform a pilot session following the protocol. Each reviewer was assigned to read and classify two primary studies. The complete protocol, with a special answer sheet, was provided to reviewers in the form of a Google Sheet document. After completing their assignments, reviewers had a live session with the SLR project lead, Ankica Barisic. During this session, each of the questions was re-evaluated, and reviewers expressed their doubts and eventual problems which they encountered while providing their answers. The completeness of the answers given in text boxes was also evaluated and discussed.

Several necessary clarifications were identified as a result of this session. For instance, it was not trivial for the reviewers to understand that it was necessary to provide the description for the different types of instance models and meta-models which they found in primary studies, as some were provided for a case study which was used to illustrate the approach, while others were provided for approach itself. Further, it was not clear to reviewers that text box descriptions were mandatory to be filled in the case if the Boolean answer to the question is marked with 'Yes'. Finally, one of the reviewers found it confusing which information should be ex-

¹⁰http://mpm4cps.eu

tracted from what source when they were collecting data on the technical background of the authors.

Once all the concerns were discussed, we updated the descriptions for each affected question. The final forms of question descriptions are presented in Table 2.7.



Table 2.7: Data Extraction Descriptions

	For all questions, if the answer to the question is (YES), it is necessary to write the
	description in text box 'What is it?'. For questions which have an answer only text box
	field, it is necessary to fill it in. Specific suggestions for filling the text box are given
	under each question.
Q1	It can be any model for any phase of building the CPS. If the answer to this question is
	(NO) then the paper should be excluded from the classification so it is not necessary
	to proceed with the classification.
Q1.1	The model/meta-model can be given for the approach or for the use case (or for both).
Q1.2	We can find (1) tool/language which was built to support the approach OR/AND (2)
	tool(s)/language(s) which are used in the approach. It is necessary to report on both,
	categorizing them with $(1)/(2)$. You can find examples in the document D1 - Section
	2.3 and Section 2.4 [This is not a complete list]. If the used tool/language is already
	belonging to a list please indicate the section.
Q1.3	Is modelling performed in a structured way and is that way described (preferably in
	a formal fashion, using, e.g. such as BPM, but it can be provided also in textual form
	(step by step manner)).
Q2	E.g. using DEVS, Statecharts, Petri-nets, or other formalisms all together (Check Sec-
	tion 2.2 of D1).
Q2.1	With supporting tools: editors, generators and/or transformations to artifacts (prone
	to be used for simulation platforms, or execution environments)
Q2.2	Hardware, Network, Environment, Software
Q2.3	This question is mandatory to be filled if the answer to Q2 is YES. Check the list of
	formalisms in D1, Section 2.2. If the used formalism(s) is(are) already belonging to a
	list please indicate the section.
Q2.4	Is the integration achieved by using, for instance, mega modelling approach, models
	merge, links, other?
Q3	In our case the approach is general if it is applicable to CPS in general, however some-
	times the approach is built for a specific domain (e.g. for the smart grid, train trans-
00.1	port etc.).
Q3.1	The description of the domains is given by D2. Please see if the addressed domain f_{1}
	Its in some or more offered in the list. If you select Other it is necessary to specify
	now you would name this new domain category. It is possible that an approach can
	be applied to several domains. Not only it is possible to choose 3 from the drop-down
Tiat	menu, but also to suggest more in the text box.
LISU	m me text box speciny me domain by exact me wording used in a paper (e.g. smart arid)
04	griu, Are the people reported to be involved in the development of approach (and voic de
Q4	sign implementation evaluation) for instance and user of approach or the CPS
	sign, implementation, evaluation) for instance chu user of approach, of the cros
List	The provided categorization is general and it is possible to select several categories
List	and suggest new ones by selecting the 'Other' It is possible to choose 3 options from
	the drop-down menu, but also suggest more in the text box.
04.1	Background knowledge topics should be based on the ontology presented in the CPS
	Profile study (D3)
Q4.2	The technical background should be found for each author from their public profile
	(e.g. University/Institute official page, Google Scholar, Research Gate, LinkedIn)
List	The provided categorization is general and it is possible to select several categories
	and suggest new ones by selecting the 'Other'. It is possible to choose 3 options from
	the drop-down menu, but also suggest more in the text box.
	۱



3 Performing the SLR

3.1 ReLis platform

An SLR follows a well-defined method to identify, analyze, synthesize, evaluate, and compare all available literature works relevant to a specific research topic (Kitchenham (2007)). The SLR process consists of several discrete activities, of which four are essential:

- 1. Defining research questions that the SLR is expecting to answer
- 2. Defining a search strategy (paper selection procedure, resources to be searched, and inclusion and exclusion criteria)
- 3. Conducting the search to identify the relevant research works
- 4. Analyzing, synthesizing, and comparing the related work

Therefore, the SLR process requires a substantial amount of effort and usually requires several iterations in order to set the process up correctly. In order to support this process, various authors use different tools for this purpose, develop their own tools, or customize general-purpose platforms (such as spreadsheets) for collecting papers and facilitating the reviewing process.

3.1.1 Motivation and Description of ReLiS

A recent study by Marshall and Brereton (2013) has provided insight into the current state of research regarding tools to support SLRs in software engineering. They selected 14 papers that describe tools to support SLRs. The results show an encouraging growth of tools to support the SLR process, and most of the tools identified are in the early stages of development and usage (at the time of that study).

The results from another study by Al-Zubidy et al. (2017) show that, while recent tools cover more of the requirements (activities in SLR), there are a number of high-priority requirements that are not yet fully covered by any of the existing tools.

ReLiS¹ is one of the tools not covered in these two studies, perhaps because of its emergence later in 2017. We chose to use the ReLiS platform primarily because it supports the entire end-to-end SLR process. It is the only tool that uses a Model-Driven Development approach to adopt a specific SLR. It features a domain-specific modelling editor tailored for researchers who perform SLR and an architecture that enables live installation and deployment of multiple concurrently running projects (Bigendako and Syriani (2017)). ReLiS is a framework to automatically install systematic review projects on the cloud. Its generic and dynamic architecture allows users to install projects during the process without manual intervention (Bigendako and Syriani (2017)). Another reason for our use of ReLiS is that it allows researchers to conduct SLR collaboratively.

The main page in ReLiS acts as a navigational hub and presents a user with the SLR-related tasks that this user can perform. A screenshot of the main page is presented in Figure 3.1.

In order to better understand the ReLiS platform and ReLiS process, it is recommended for users to try the platform as the 'demo user', and later create their profile.

The ReLiS platform contains three example projects (Model transformation, Model Transformations for Concrete Problems, and Template-based Code Generation). Before deciding whether to use this platform, a user can see how the process is supported and what they can expect as a result by starting these sample projects. Before starting to use the ReLiS platform for its own SLR, a new user needs to be registered.

¹http://relis.iro.umontreal.ca

← → C ③ Not sec	ure relationumontreat.ca/kuthhimi Q 🏠 🖗 🖗 🖬 📓 🖉 🧿
Apps 🧧 PlusPlus_BURS	📙 PUSPLISIT_FULLCI 🜔 Zakani-Sambena :: 🛄 Pogledaki i posinti 🐘 NORTAL 🛄 PlusPlusDev 📒 JIRA 🛄 PlusPlus 🙆 OgEAbiti-S VIIITEn: 🚼 C# Uppercase Finit i: 📗 Orack-entifiedIwa 🧱 Cylipte youres (Viii' 📒 C 🖇 📜 Other bookman
ReLIS	■
# About	ReLIS : a tool for conducting Systematic Review
🕑 Нар	Systematic review is a technique used to search for evidence in scientific literature that is conducted in a formal manner, following a weil-defined process, according to a previously elaborated protocol. Conducting a systematic review involves many steps over a long period of time, and is often tobolistic and resetilities. This is whi we have created RPLIS which provides specifical pohanes specific to the vidence to a formal specific to the vidence of
🔊 Go to ReLIS	ReLS stands for Revue Literaire Systematique which is French for Systematic Literature Reviews Relis literative
🕈 🔺 Create Account	
Derro user	What can you do in ReLIS?
	O Plan the review ReLIB features a domain-specific language to define a protocol that will goide the process of conducting the review. That protocol will help to generate a project tallowed to the needs of the review.
	Import papers ReLIB allow to add papers manually or import a list of inferences in CSV, BiaTaX or EndNote format.
	Screen papers Each paper as the assigned automatically or manually to a number of reviewers. Reviewers screen the corpus of papers by deciding which paper to include and which one to exclude from the review. ReLID brings invaluable assistance to certificits between reviewers decisions, resolution or consist, and many statistics on the screening process.
	Assess quality Reviewers can assess the quality of the selected papers in the corpus using a questionnaire customized for the review.
	Extract relevant data Reviewers can extract the relevant data from each paper according to collegoines and classification scheme predefined for his review. The data extraction form can be modified at any time incrementally.
	Export result All extracted data are automatically synthesized in tables and charts, ready to be exported in your favorile tool for further analysis.
	More about ReLIS
	Read this article about ReLIS, which you can cite via:
	B. Bigendaka, and E. Syriani. Modeling a Tool for Conducting Systematic Reviews Iteratively. Proceedings of the 6th International Conference on Moder-Driven Engineering and Software Development. SCITEPRESS, pp. 552–559. (2018).
	I ne team
	PALS is developed and maintained by the software engineering tab GEODES in the department of computer scence and operations research at the University of Montheal. Under the supervision of Pirk Eugene Systam, the development is mainly supported by the students of the tab. The open source code is available on GitHub.
	Seodes DIRO toterat de

Figure 3.1: The main page of ReLiS

3.1.2 ReLiS-supported process

A typical workflow to conduct SLR in ReLiS is described in Figure 3.3. Some of these actions are performed by the user (manually), while some are conducted automatically within the tool.

The user starts by planning the SLR and sets up a project in ReLiS. Setting up a project means defining a configuration model using the appropriate editor. According to the definition, ReLiS platform will automatically install the project on the cloud: a web application on the web server and a dedicated database. In this model, the user defines participants who will conduct the review. Different roles can be assigned (such as reviewers, validators, or project managers) to each participant.



Figure 3.2: A diagram of the SLR process in ReLiS. Each box represents an SLR activity

Researchers search for primary studies outside ReLiS, and later import them into ReLiS in the appropriate format (BibTeX, EndNote or CSV). ReLiS stores the meta information of each paper, such as title, abstract, author, venue, year and etc, and a link to the full text. As soon as papers are added into ReLiS, each paper can be assigned automatically and randomly to a fixed number of reviewers, after which the participants can start screening and decide which paper to include or exclude. One of the main benefits of using this system is that ReLiS automatically detects conflicting decisions between reviewers of the same paper, and notifies the reviewers that they need to resolve this conflict according to the strategy defined in the protocol.

The configuration model contains a section for quality assessment. Reading this configuration section, ReLiS generates forms for participants with the validator role to assess the quality of each paper, and automatically calculates the score of each study.

In addition to quality assessment, ReLiS generates the data extraction forms from the configuration model. Reviewers read through each paper and fill the online form to classify or highlight relevant information of each retained paper (Bigendako and Syriani (2017)). Figure 3.3 shows an automatically generated data extraction form.

Paper *	Murguzur2013 - Multi-perspective Process Variability: A Case for Smart Green Buildings (Short Paper)
Q1: Does the paper report modelling approaches for building CPS? (It can be any model for any phase of building the CPS.) [This is inclusion question for papers, if the answer is NO, paper should be excluded and there is no need to proceed with the classification. Check instructios for exclusion in the e-mail!] *	YES x *
Q1: Describe the modelling approach in short *	Multi-perspective process variability management for sustainability governance of Smart Green Buildings.
Q1.1: Does paper report a model/meta-model? [If the answer is YES please provide the description] *	YES x 🔻
Q1.1: Describe a model/meta-model (The model/meta- model can be given for the approach or for the use case (or for both). Report on what was modelled.)	interaction diagram of Main stakeholders and their possible interactions in Smart Green Buildings, Conceptual Model of Multi-perspective process variability in Smart Green Buildings solutions represented as class diagram
Q1.2: Does the paper report a tool/language? [If the answer is YES please provide the description] *	YES x *
 Q1.2: We can find (1) tool/language which was built to support the approach OR/AND (2) tool/language(s) which are used in the approach. It is necessary to report on both, categorising them with (1)/(2). You can find examples in the document D1 - Section 2.3 and Section 2.4 [This is not a complete list]. If the used tool/language is already belonging to a list please indicate the name and the section. 	(2)LateVa toolkit - conceptual model has been implemented atop of this toolkit
Q1.3: Does the paper report the model of the adopted process? [If the answer is YES please provide the description] *	NO x *
Q1.3: Is modelling performed in a structured way and is that way described (preferably in a formal fashion, using, e.g. such as BPM, but it can be provided also in textual form (step by step menner)).	
Q2: Does the paper report a multi-paradigm modelling approach? [If the answer is YES please answer following subquestions:] *	YES x *
Q2: Describe the MPM approach. E.g. is it using different views of same model or provide ones for different models, is it using DEVS, Statecharts, Petri-nets, or other formalisms all together (Check Section 2.2 of D1).	multi-perspective process variability represents the set of all possible perspectives of people (e.g. stakeholders, roles and operation contracts) in a particular domain, which includes different process variants to deal with the

Figure 3.3: The data extraction form for this SLR in ReLiS

All the extracted data can then be exported to a CSV file to be used in more advanced statistical tools, such as SPSS. ReLiS allows validators to check results of the screening, quality assessment or data extraction. Also, the tool tracks the progress and reports basic statistics for each phase, rendered as tables and plots. ReLiS supports an iterative process, meaning the configuration model can be modified at any time (new participants or new papers can be added, exclusion criteria can be modified and etc).

3.2 Roles and Responsibilities

This SLR involved 15 researchers, as listed in Table 3.1. The researchers include members of universities and research institutions and one from a company. The academic participants include PhD candidates, Post-Docs, Lecturers, Professors, and Research Engineers. The researchers participated from 10 different countries, including Portugal, Serbia, Sweden, France, Turkey, The Netherlands, The United States, Belgium, Latvia, and the Czech Republic. The researchers' table includes the abbreviations that will be used to refer to them for the sake of brevity.

Different activities related to various phases of the SLR are assigned to the researchers according to the Table 3.2. The activities cover all the tasks performed in the SLR related to defining the



	Name	E-mail	Institution	Country
AB	Ankica Barisic	a.barisic@campus.fct.unl.pt	University NOVA of Lis-	Portugal
			bon	
DS	Dusan Savic	dules@fon.bg.ac.rs	Faculty of Organiza-	Serbia
			tional Sciences	
VA	Vasco Amaral	vma@fct.unl.pt	University NOVA of Lis-	Portugal
			bon	
MG	Miguel	mgoul@fct.unl.pt	University NOVA of Lis-	Portugal
	Goulao		bon	
AC	Antonio Cic-	antonio.cicchetti@ mdh.se	Mälardalen University	Sweden
	chetti			
DB	Dominique	dominique.blouin@	Telecom ParisTech	France
	Blouin	telecom-paristech.fr		
FE	Ferhat Erata	ferhat@computer.org	UNIT Information	Turkey
			Technologies	
BT	Bedir Tekiner-	bedir06@gmail.com	Wageningen University	Netherlands
	dogan			
IR	Ivan Ruchkin	iruchkin@cs.cmu.edu	Carnegie Mellon Uni-	US
			versity	
CG	Claudio	claudio.goncalvesgomes@	University of Antwerp	Belgium
	Gomes	uantwerpen.be		
MA	Mustafa Ab-	mustafaxoodiye@gmail.com	EGE University	Turkey
	shir			
MC	Moharram	m.challenger@gmail.com	University of Antwerp	Belgium
	Challenger			
RE	Raheleh Es-	raheleh.eslampanah@	Izmir University of Eco-	Turkey
	lampanah	ieu.edu.tr	nomics	
ON	Oksana Niki-	oksana.nikiforova@rtu.lv	Riga Technical Univer-	Latvia
	forova		sity	
RA	Rima Al-Ali	alali@d3s.mff.cuni.cz	Charles University in	Czech Re-
			Prague	public

Table 3.1: The reviewers of this SLR

protocol, searching, screening, data extraction, validation, and reporting. This table includes a heading column for activities and a heading row for the abbreviations of the researchers first and last name. The activities in which the researcher participated is marked with an 'X' in the table. Some of the activities have been realized in the context of MPM4CPS COST action meetings which are represented in the last column (C).

The data extraction, as one of the main activities, was assigned to all researchers involved in the study. Also, most of the participants were involved in the screening phase, another critical task of the SLR, where mainly the inclusion and exclusion of the papers were decided. Ankica Barisic and Dusan Savic, as principal researchers of this SLR, had the highest workload. The tasks are described as follows:

- 1. Develop Protocol: The SLR started with defining the overall research question and methodology, as described in Section 2.
- 2. Research Question Definition: The four main research questions, presented in Section 2.1.1 were defined to realize our main objective of finding approaches for developing CPS.

Activities	AB	DS	VA	MG	AC	DB	FE	BT	В	CG	MA	MC	RE	NO	RA	U
Develop protocol	Х	Х														
Research Question definition	Х	X	x	X												
Research Question validation																X
Query testing	X	x														
Define search string	Х	X														
Define classification scheme	Х	Х														
Define data extraction form	Х	X														
Internal review of protocol																×
Prepare review questionnaire	X															
External review of protocol																Х
Create intermediate technical report	Х															
Internal Review of technical report		x														
External Review of technical report																X
Revise protocol	Х															
Identify primary research	Х	х														
Retrieve primary research	Х															
Setup ReLis project	X															
Import automatic search studies	Х															
Screening			Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	X				Х			
Import from Barišić and Cunha (2017)	Х															
Review of extraction form																X
Pilot session											x	X	x			
Data extraction	Х	Х	x	Х	Х	Х	X	x	X	x	X	Х	Х	Х	Х	
Data synthesis	Х	Х									Х					
Complete technical report	Х	Х										Х	Х	Х		
Review technical report	Х	Х			Х	Х			Х			Х	Х		Х	

Table 3.2: Roles and Responsibilities



- 3. Research questions and keywords validation: RQ validation was performed at MPM4CPS COST action meeting in Vienna² held on April 15-16 of 2016, where all participants discussed and finalized the direction of the SLR.
- 4. Query Testing: Based on predefined keywords, the researchers constructed several research quarries which were tested over search sources. This activity was described in detail in Section 2.2.1.
- 5. Define Search String: The queries were refined into several search strings, used to find the publications relevant to the SLR.
- 6. Define classification scheme: The evaluation criteria, inclusion and exclusion criteria, and quality criteria were defined in this phase and are given in Section 2.1.3 and 2.1.4.
- 7. Define data extraction form: The data extraction form was defined, including all the subquestions which can help in finding answers to the main research questions, as well as the classifications scales which can help in the characterization of collected data. The extraction form is described in Section 2.1.5.
- 8. Internal review of protocol: The protocol was evaluated by all members at the MPM4CPS COST action meeting in Riga³ held on April 25-26 of 2018.
- 9. Prepare review questionnaire: A survey was prepared in order to have external participants evaluate the protocol. The details of the survey are described in Appendix A.
- 10. External review of protocol: All members of the MPM4CPS COST action were invited to participate in the survey on April 27 of 2018. The results of this review are presented in Section 2.2.2
- 11. Create Intermediate technical report: The intermediate technical report Barišić (2018) was created as a part of the Short-Term Scientific Mission (STSM) awarded to Ankica Barisic in the context of MPM4CPS COST action.
- 12. Internal Review of technical report: Dusan Savic reviewed the preliminary report.
- 13. External Review of technical report: The external review of the technical report (Barišić (2018)) was carried out by the STSM committee of MPM4CPS COST action in May 2018.
- 14. Revise protocol: Based on the comments provided during the review, the protocol was modified.
- 15. Identify primary research: In this phase, the primary studies were identified using the search quarry over scientific databases.
- 16. Retrieve primary research: Primary studies were imported to the Mendeley database group.
- 17. Setup ReLis project: The ReLis project was created and the reviewers were instructed how to create their accounts. We described the ReLis platform in Section 3.1.
- 18. Import automatic search studies: Primary studies retrieved using the search strings were imported into ReLis. The duplicates were identified and removed. The imported studies are presented in Section 3.3.
- 19. Screening: In this phase, the reviewers made a decision which of the studies obtained by search strings should be classified. This phase is described in Section 3.3.
- 20. Import from Barišić and Cunha (2017): Papers from related SLR were analyzed and then added to Mandalay Group, and imported into the ReLis platform.
- 21. Review of extraction form: The data extraction form was reviewed and validated by participants of the MPM4CPS COST action meeting in Izmir held from September 17-19 of 2018.
- 22. Pilot session: A preliminary pilot session with 3 participants, as described in Section 2.2.3, involved each researcher carrying out classification on two papers, and then discussing

²http://mpm4cps.eu/workshops/16.04.15-16.Vienna

³http://mpm4cps.eu/workshops/18.04.26-27.Riga

their uncertainties with the data extraction form. Those ambiguous questions were then clarified and revised.

- 23. Data extraction: All participants took part in classifying the studies and completing the quality assessment and data extraction forms, as reported in Section 3.4.
- 24. Data synthesis: The results of data extraction were analyzed and summarized, such as in the form of graphs and data tables, as we will show in Section 4.
- 25. Complete technical report: In this phase, the technical report was written.
- 26. Review technical report: Finally, the technical report was reviewed and submitted to the WG4 leaders of MPM4CPS COST action.

3.3 Screening phase

In this Section, we describe the process and result of the screening phase which was performed by using the Relis platform (Section 3.1). In this phase, the relevant primary studies obtained by the automatic search were selected by reviewers (see Table 3.2) for classification phase where the required data was extracted.

Database	Retrieved Studies
ACM	4
IEEE	44
SD	25
SL	35
SCOPUS	103
TOTAL	211

Table 3.3: Retrieved studies using automatic search

The number of retrieved studies from several databases (ACM, IEEE, SD, SL, and SCOPUS) which have been used in this SLR is listed in Table 3.3. The publications are selected by automatic search methods, as explained in Section 2.1.2. The total number of retrieved studies by using automatic search was 211. SCOPUS with 103 studies has the highest and ACM with 4 studies has the lowest number of papers among the used databases.

Decision per user			
User	Included	Excluded	In conflict
Ivan Ruchkin	21	27	0
Raheleh	21	25	0
Vasco	21	25	0
Miguel Goulão	19	28	0
Antonio Cicchetti	25	21	0
Bedir Tekinerdogan	28	19	0
Ferhat Erata	24	24	0
Dominique Blouin	25	23	0

Figure 3.4: Screening Decision



After removing duplicates, 188 primaries studies⁴ were imported into the ReLis system on June 29, 2018. The reviewers were assigned screening tasks and instructed to log in to the ReLis platform in which they were expected to read the abstract of around 47 primary studies (for each reviewer) and decide if the study reports on modelling of CPS. Each study was assigned to two reviewers to make a decision regarding if the study should be included or excluded.

Figure 3.4 demonstrates the screening decision by the reviewers and the number of reviewed papers whether included or excluded. In case of conflict, the reviewers had a chance to communicate. If there was a conflict between the reviewers' decisions, the reviewers were notified to discuss the conflicting decision between themselves in such a way that at the final stage, all the conflicts were resolved and no level of conflict was reported. This is also illustrated in Fig.3.5 which shows there were conflicts at the end. Reviewers were instructed to be more inclusive in this phase, as there was an option to make the exclusion of the study in the next phase.

Conflict resolution		
Decision	Nbr	
Resolved included	27	
Resolved excluded	35	
Pending conflicts	0	

Figure 3.5: Screening Conflicts

If a paper was excluded, it was necessary to select the exclusion criteria defined in Table 2.2. Statistics on exclusion criteria are reported in Figure 3.6. Most of the papers (64.58%) are excluded since they did not respond to the research questions. About a quarter of the papers (25.52%) belonged to the informal literature studies and secondary studies. The study also excludes 6.25% of the papers which were out of the date range (1/1/2006 - 31/12/2017). The details of the exclusion criteria are explained in Section 2.1.3.

Statistics on Exclusion Criteria		
Criteria	Nbr	%
Papers that did not apply to research questions	124	64.58
Informal literature and secondary/tertiary studies	35	18.23
Purely hardware, or electrical engineering perspective papers	3	1.56
Outside of the SLR date range	12	6.25
Secondary study	14	7.29
Papers written in other than English language	4	2.08

Figure 3.6: Screening Exclusion

This phase was concluded on October 20th, with the final results shown in Figure 3.7. This figure reports the final screening phase with 48.94 % of the all papers included and 51.06%

⁴Imported library: https://goo.gl/DmJMJs

Result Decision Papers % 92 48.94 Included Excluded 96 51.06 In conflict 0 0 0 0 In review 0 0 Pending Total 188

excluded. There are no papers remaining in conflict, in review, or pending. Based on the final decision result, from the 188 total papers, 92 are included and 96 are excluded⁵.

Figure 3.7: Screening Result

3.4 Data Extraction phase

In this Section we describe how the data extraction process was perform, highlighting the classification preparation, assignments and the classification status.

3.4.1 Classification preparation

For the classification phase, we had two different sources of primary studies ⁶:

- 1 Studies which we obtained by automatic search using the search string presented in Section 2.1.2. These studies passed the screening phase and we obtained **92** papers to be reviewed during this phase
- 2 Studies which were reviewed in Barišić and Cunha (2017), and which were reported to present a modelling approach for CPS. We obtained **215** studies from this source

After the screening phase was finished, we imported 215 studies from the 2nd source, and the ReLis system automatically identified 7 duplicates. There were 300 papers in total to be sent for review.

We created a private shared group in Mendeley library ⁷, named 'SLR MPM4CPS COST IC1404'. All bibliographic meta-data for primary studies were imported to this group and were set to have the same citation key as in the ReLis system. Reviewers were invited to join this group and were asked to upload the paper's .pdf to its reference.

In the ReLis system, the data extraction form from Section 2.1.5 was generated by using the integrated domain-specific language for specifying forms. The form consisted of the questions and descriptions from data extraction form, as well as from the quality assessment questions. All the Boolean questions were mandatory to be answered by reviewers before they were able to submit their classification. After submitting the classification, reviewers were able to edit their answers if necessary. They could follow their progress, as well as progress of other reviewers and competition status in the Relis 'Data Extraction' dashboard. However, statistics were presented

⁵Excluded papers: https://goo.gl/oggEd8

⁶All papers: https://goo.gl/oA3Jx8

⁷www.mendeley.com



only for classified papers, meaning that if the paper was excluded in this phase, then it was removed from the overall summary.

Usually, the quality assessment phase is performed before the paper classification, and can serve as an additional criteria based on which the decision is made if the paper will be sent for classification. However, in our case, we decided to merge the quality assessment form to the classification form, because of limitations of the ReLis platform and lack of time to carry out this phase separately.

3.4.1.1 Classification assignments

Each reviewer was randomly assigned to classify a set of primary studies. Each study was expected to be classified by one reviewer. This phase started on October 22, 2018. The reviewers were provided with the following instructions:

'In the ReLis system, you will find papers which are assigned to you when you select the 'Classify' action from your dashboard. Please note during the classification that we are extracting the information which is reported by authors - so we don't judge what paper claim. For example, if the paper report on modelling we don't judge if it is true or not but we have subquestions and textual notes to stress this. Regarding CPS, if the paper report to model just part of the system it should be also considered - we stress in sub-questions which part of system au-For data extraction use the comments which we defined in 'Data Extraction thors model. Strategy' sheet of the official protocol (https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/ 1X0B7G1RqNWvsNYILY6UPRPq34V8btbk-EVts-pVltqM/edit?usp=sharing). For all questions (Q1-Q4), if the answer to the question is (YES) it is necessary to write the description in text box 'What it is?'. For questions which have an answer only textbox field, it is necessary to fill it in. Specific suggestions for filling the text box are given under each question. Documents which should be consulted were provided in attachment: D1 (WG1 delivery: https://v2.overleaf.com/7464136733wzrcmhkcfnnd) - Dominique can update us if there is a newer version; D2 (Gunes, Volkan; Peter, Steffen; Givargis, Tony; Vahid, Frank: 'A Survey on Concepts, Applications, and Challenges in Cyber-Physical Systems); D3 (WG4 delivery: https://zenodo.org/record/223900#.W6T04maB1Zo)

If you find that answer to our first question is NO, instead of 'Adding Classification' it is necessary to **Exclude** paper. While Excluding paper, it is mandatory to select the exclusion criteria and ADD justification as a Note.

For 'Quality Assessment' questions (marked with QA) we need the following external information to be extracted: 1. Number of citations based on Google Scholar (https:// scholar.google.com) 2. CORE ranking of the journal (http://portal.core.edu. au/jnl-ranks/) OR conference (http://portal.core.edu.au/conf-ranks/). NOTE: if the are papers which you can not find in CORE, please select 0 and ADD paper to the sheet 'Missing Conference/Journal Ranking' - https://goo.gl/4GNd5i

For 'Self Assessment' questions - it is necessary to express your own confidence about classification. Note that the papers for which you select '0-Not Confident' option, will need to be assigned to the other reviewer.

Finally, we have a **Mendeley Group** to which you all should receive an invitation to access (https://www.mendeley.com/community/slr-mpm4cps-cost-ic1404/). Although there is an online version, I highly recommend that you download the desktop application. Just remember to SYNC when starting or finishing working in the Mendeley desktop app. You should find the bibliographic data which is extracted from the databases for the papers assigned to you in folder 'IncludedPapers'. It is necessary to download and attach the publication with data (ADD FILE option). Also, if you notice that some relevant information is missing or is wrong, please correct it. If you are not having the access to the paper which is assigned to you, please register it in sheet 'Missing Articles' of help document: https://goo.gl/4GNd5i For the papers which will be excluded as a secondary study, but they still report on relevant related work, please add the paper to 'RelatedWork' folder in Mendeley.

Here are small videos which show how to start with the classification in ReLis and using the Mendeley desktop app:

ReLis: https://drive.google.com/file/d/1KjJp-VGUG9zmhUC-Hj2pxcE8OiAb5WhX/ view?usp=sharing

Mendeley: https://drive.google.com/file/d/13xL0U_A5DMMfHIPXwqob5OSOoj8H7cGc/ view?usp=sharing.

Thank you all for your effort and participation, and feel free to ask any questions if there are some doubts.'

3.4.1.2 Classification status

According to the ReLis system, as shown in Figure 3.8, 160 papers⁸ out of 300 have been classified and 81 papers are pending classification. It is worth noting that 59 papers⁹ have been excluded during the classification phase and they do not count by ReLis system as 'All' and are not presented in individual reviewers progress.



Figure 3.8: Classification Status

The details of classification completion statistics for each reviewer is extracted from the ReLis system, as shown in Figure 3.9. According to this figure, most of the reviewers have finished the classification. It is worth noting that some reviewers did not reach 100% due to unavailability of the full text for some of their assignments (for instance from IGI Global publisher). On another hand, some of the reviewers didn't manage to complete their task due to the relatively short classification period. Altogether, 66% of the papers have been reviewed until now and will be analyzed in the following section. However, the idea is to continue with classifications until its completion later on.

⁸Data Extraction: https://goo.gl/VXj33a ⁹Excluded papers: https://goo.gl/aSbf6n



Completion	
Ankica Barisic: 17 / 17 -> 100%	
Antonio Cicchetti: 14 / 17 -> 82%	
Bedir Tekinerdogan: 0 / 20 -> 0%	
Claudio Gomes: 9 / 9 -> 100%	
Dominique Blouin: 12 / 17 -> 70%	
Dusan: 5 / 5 -> 100%	
Ferhat Erata: 0 / 19 -> 0%	
Ivan Ruchkin: 23 / 23 -> 100%	
Miguel Goulão: 0 / 14 -> 0%	
Moharram Challenger: 15 / 15 -> 100%	
Mustafa Xoodiye: 16 / 17 -> 94%	
Oksana Nikiforova: 17 / 17 -> 100%	
Raheleh: 20 / 20 -> 100%	
Rima: 13 / 13 -> 100%	
Vasco: 0 / 19 -> 0%	
Total: 160 / 241 -> 66%	

Figure 3.9: Completion by reviewer



4 Results

This section discusses the findings of this SLR. We begin with describing the *Quality assessment of classified studies* for the selected works. After that we present our findings for each research question.

After analysis of the obtained set of classified papers, we identified one duplicate study. Of the obtained 159 papers, 28 papers are registered as obtained by search string, while the rest came from Barišić and Cunha (2017). However, as we had duplicate papers, this number is incomplete as the ReLis platform did not allow us to register various search strategies. For the same reason, we are not reporting the number of papers from different search databases.

4.1 Quality assessment of classified studies

To begin, Figure 4.1 displays descriptive statistics concerning quality assessment criteria QA1, which reports on the relevance of conference/journal where the paper was published. For this purpose we used the CORE ranking of the journals and conferences obtained from the following links: http://portal.core.edu.au/jnl-ranks and http://portal.core. The venues which reviewers did not find in this ranking list were marked as 'O-Not so relevant'.



Figure 4.1: Relevance of papers according to the conference/journal where they are published



Figure 4.2: Relevance of papers according to their citations

The highest number of papers belong to the papers that were published on conferences/journals that were not so relevant (46% of the papers). On the other hand, 31% of the papers are


relevant and 23% are very relevant to the domain - indicating that we reviewed 54% of primary studies published in relevant venues, which are ranked as A or B.

In Figure 4.2 we present results related to the relevance of citations, respectively, following the scale defined in Section 2.1.4. For this purpose, we used the number of citations obtained from Google Scholar in November and December of 2018. According to the obtained results, over half of the papers (55%) belong to the group that has a high ranking factor. 33% of the papers belong to the group with medium ranking factor, while only 11% have low importance.

In total, we can conclude that around 55% of primary studies have avery good ranking - meaning that they were published in high ranked venues and are cited.

Furthermore, we highlight the quality assessment regarding the content of the papers, namely the clarity of motivation and research context for the approach presented in the papers, the completeness of the evaluation of the presented approaches, the explicitness of how contributions and future work were stated.



Figure 4.3: Clarity of the problem description

Figure 4.3 shows the results of how clearly the problem of study is described. Almost two-thirds of the selected papers (68%) clearly and accurately describe the problem and 32% of the papers describe problem vaguely. This indicates that reviewers found that all primary studies present the motivation for their approach, and in most of cases this motivation is clear and specific to the problem which the study tries to address.



Figure 4.4: Clarity of the research context

We can see in Figure 4.4 that reviewers found that a negligible number of studies have focused on the research context vaguely (only 4 papers). Most convincingly, the largest number of the papers described research context with references (94 papers), meaning that the related work was reported, the lacks and advantages of related work were identified and compared with the proposed approach. Finally, 61 primary studies are classified to describe the research context generally.



Figure 4.5: Rigor of method evaluation

We judge the rigor of evaluation method used in the primary studies based on their evaluation types. We categorized the evaluation types into four groups: 1) Empirical foundation, 2) Case study, 3) Lessons learned and 4) No evaluation. Figure 4.5 shows the evaluation types used to validate the proposed solution. From the total of 159 papers, more than half primary studies (99 papers) proposed solutions that are evaluated by applying small case studies. 25 papers do not report any evaluation. Furthermore, 23 studies are evaluated empirically, while the remaining 21 papers show the applicability of the proposal using some illustrative examples. In order to make the modelling approaches better understood and accepted, more empirical studies need to be carried out.



Figure 4.6: Explicitness of presenting contributions

We measured the contributions claimed by the obtained articles based on how explicit they address the problem solution. More than half of the papers (57%) explicitly presented contribution, meaning they contribute with concrete solution and highlight the scope of their contribution clearly in the conclusions. A negligible number of papers do not present contributions (6%), while the remaining 37% of the papers describe their contributions in a general way. Figure 4.6 shows these results.

Finally, almost one quarter of the papers do not present any direction for future work (22%), which is almost the same as the number of papers that emphasized the future directions (21%). In the remaining papers, more then a half (57%), issues for future work are presented in a generalized manner (Figure 4.7).





Figure 4.7: How explicitly are the insights and issues for future work stated?

We can conclude that most of the primary studies motivate their problems and provide the research context. About 80% of the approaches reported by primary studies are evaluated by a case study or empirical foundations. Although in most of cases the contributions are explicit, the future work is either very general or lacking and rarely reported with a concrete road-map.



Figure 4.8: Reviewer confidence about the study content



Figure 4.9: Reviewer confidence about the study quality

In order to make the review process more objective, the reviewers were asked to make a statement about their confidence about the content and quality of the study (see Figures 4.8 and 4.9). We used this information to decide whether to accept the reviewer opinion or to give the same paper to another reviewer, increasing the overall confidence. Confident response was dominant in both questions (58% and 66% respectively). A negligible number of the responses, approximately 1%, was *Not Very Confident*. This statistic is important because it can be concluded that the reviewers were appropriately selected.

4.2 Modelling approaches for building CPS

In this section, we present the findings for our first research question **RQ1: Which modelling approaches exist for building CPS?**. The reviewers addressed this question by asking themselves if the primary study reports modelling approaches for building CPS. All the studies for which reviewers found that answer to this question was 'No' were excluded.



Figure 4.10: Modelling approaches for CPS over time

In total 159 primary studies were classified to report modelling approaches for building a CPS. We can observe that the number of these reports is increasing from 2009 towards the year 2017, for which almost one third of the primary studies were published as shown in Figure 4.10. The selected studies are listed bellow:

Attarzadeh-Niaki and Sander (2016); Barišić et al. (2017); Basile et al. (2016); Dang and Gogolla (2009); Fitzgerald et al. (2015); Zhang and Feng (2014); Walch (2017); Latombe et al. (2015); Casella et al. (2017); Fitzgerald et al. (2014); Denil et al. (2017); Herrera et al. (2015); Juhász et al. (2015); Lickly et al. (2011); Vara Larsen et al. (2015); Bergmann et al. (2017); Tomašević et al. (2015); Magureanu et al. (2013); Antal et al. (2017); Asensio et al. (2017); Bloomfield et al. (2017); Burillo et al. (2017); Canadas et al. (2018); Chaki and Edmondson (2014); Cicirelli et al. (2017); de Farias et al. (2017); Dillon et al. (2012); Gonçalves et al. (2016); Hackenberg et al. (2016); Heinze et al. (2012); Bujorianu and Piterman (2015); Combaz et al. (2015); Marrone and Gentile (2016); Gerostathopoulos et al. (2016); Kokolaki et al. (2014); Novák et al. (2017); Pazzi and Pellicciari (2017); Shuja et al. (2014); Sobottka et al. (2017); Um et al. (2017); Zhang et al. (2017a); Carnevali et al. (2014); Giese and Schäfer (2013); Gunes et al. (2015); Hartmann et al. (2014); Jiang et al. (2014); Sztipanovits et al. (2017); Törngren et al. (2014); Zhang (2014); Ciccozzi et al. (2016); Moyano et al. (2014); Premm and Kirn (2015); Sztipanovits et al. (2014); Tao et al. (2017); Tendeloo and Vangheluwe (2017); Murguzur et al. (2013); Calinescu (2013); Chiaradonna et al. (2012); Mertins et al. (2012); Son et al. (2012); Woodard and Sedigh (2013); Ni and Broenink (2014); Dávid et al. (2016); Durak et al. (2017); Lerm et al. (2015); Weissnegger et al. (2016); Kusmenko et al. (2017); Alhafidh and Allen (2017); Apvrille and Roudier (2015); Mallet (2015); Rovers and Kuper (2013); von Hanxleden et al. (2012); Nejati et al. (2012); Pournaras et al. (2013); Neisse et al. (2015); Huang et al. (2014); Eusgeld et al. (2011); Excoffon et al. (2016); Francalanza et al. (2017); Bernard and Chenouard (2014); Gauthier et al. (2015); Caramihai and Dumitrache (2013); Hecht (2016); Montecchi et al. (2012); Arrieta et al. (2017); i Casas and i Casas (2017); Greenyer et al. (2014); Basile et al. (2017); Holden et al.



(2013); Uva et al. (2017); Hu et al. (2015); Garcia et al. (2012); Myers and Atkinson (2013); Dubois and Pohl (2017); Seiger et al. (2015); Sharaf et al. (2017); Canedo and Richter (2014); Dávid (2016); Simko et al. (2013); Van Der Auweraer et al. (2013); Méry and Singh (2013); Fernández-Isabel and Fuentes-Fernández (2016); Zhang (2013); Cicirellia et al. (2017); Wehrmeister et al. (2014); Di Alesio and Sen (2017); Faschang et al. (2016); Franchin and Cavalieri (2013); Zhang et al. (2017b); Frtunikj et al. (2014); Heinzemann et al. (2017); Dávid et al. (2018); Bliudze et al. (2017); Stiel et al. (2016); Khan et al. (2017); Cho (2017); King et al. (2014); Delicato et al. (2017); Zhang and Koutsoukos (2013); Dragule et al. (2017); Legat and Vogel-Heuser (2017); Giles and Giammarco (2017); Gräßler et al. (2017); Grüttner et al. (2017); Neema et al. (2016); Ruiz et al. (2016); Albert and Christian (2013); Thramboulidis and Christoulakis (2016); van den Berg et al. (2015); Wang et al. (2015); Amgai et al. (2014); Appel et al. (2014); Armentia et al. (2014); Seiger et al. (2017); Tóth et al. (2012); Dayal et al. (2015); Liu et al. (2017); Lollini et al. (2016); Baumgartner et al. (2014); Yin et al. (2016); Hoffmann et al. (2017); Brocanelli et al. (2015); Herrmann and Blech (2016); Liu et al. (2013); Mallet et al. (2017); ZHU et al. (2014); Vellaithurai et al. (2015); Gribaudo and Remke (2016); Kacem et al. (2017); Mazzolini et al. (2017); Ribeiro et al. (2017); Troubitsyna et al. (2016); Drago et al. (2016); Yu et al. (2014); Vanherpen et al. (2015); Lin et al. (2016); Varró et al. (2016); Leung et al. (2009)

4.2.1 Reported models and meta-models

A key part of a modelling approach is a model or a meta-model: among the 159 selected papers, 137 papers report a model or a meta-model. The remaining 22 papers do not report any model (see Figure 4.11). The selected studies that report a model or a meta-model are listed bellow:



Figure 4.11: Reported models or meta-models

Attarzadeh-Niaki and Sander (2016); Barišić et al. (2017); Basile et al. (2016); Dang and Gogolla (2009); Latombe et al. (2015); Denil et al. (2017); Herrera et al. (2015); Juhász et al. (2015); Lickly et al. (2011); Vara Larsen et al. (2015); Zhang and Feng (2014); Bergmann et al. (2017); Magureanu et al. (2013); Antal et al. (2017); Asensio et al. (2017); Bloomfield et al. (2017); Burillo et al. (2017); Canadas et al. (2018); Chaki and Edmondson (2014); Cicirelli et al. (2017); de Farias et al. (2017); Gonçalves et al. (2016); Hackenberg et al. (2016); Heinze et al. (2012); Bujorianu and Piterman (2015); Combaz et al. (2015); Marrone and Gentile (2016);

Gerostathopoulos et al. (2016); Kokolaki et al. (2014); Novák et al. (2017); Pazzi and Pellicciari (2017); Shuja et al. (2014); Sobottka et al. (2017); Um et al. (2017); Zhang et al. (2017a); Carnevali et al. (2014); Giese and Schäfer (2013); Hartmann et al. (2014); Jiang et al. (2014); Törngren et al. (2014); Zhang (2014); Ciccozzi et al. (2016); Moyano et al. (2014); Premm and Kirn (2015); Sztipanovits et al. (2014); Tao et al. (2017); Tendeloo and Vangheluwe (2017); Murguzur et al. (2013); Calinescu (2013); Chiaradonna et al. (2012); Son et al. (2012); Woodard and Sedigh (2013); Ni and Broenink (2014); Dávid et al. (2016); Durak et al. (2017); Lerm et al. (2015); Weissnegger et al. (2016); Kusmenko et al. (2017); Apvrille and Roudier (2015); Mallet (2015); von Hanxleden et al. (2012); Nejati et al. (2012); Pournaras et al. (2013); Neisse et al. (2015); Huang et al. (2014); Eusgeld et al. (2011); Excoffon et al. (2016); Francalanza et al. (2017); Gauthier et al. (2015); Caramihai and Dumitrache (2013); Hecht (2016); Montecchi et al. (2012); Arrieta et al. (2017); Greenyer et al. (2014); Basile et al. (2017); Holden et al. (2013); Hu et al. (2015); Garcia et al. (2012); Myers and Atkinson (2013); Dubois and Pohl (2017); Seiger et al. (2015); Sharaf et al. (2017); Canedo and Richter (2014); Dávid (2016); Simko et al. (2013); Méry and Singh (2013); Fernández-Isabel and Fuentes-Fernández (2016); Cicirellia et al. (2017); Wehrmeister et al. (2014); Di Alesio and Sen (2017); Faschang et al. (2016); Franchin and Cavalieri (2013); Zhang et al. (2017b); Frtunikj et al. (2014); Heinzemann et al. (2017); Dávid et al. (2018); Bliudze et al. (2017); Stiel et al. (2016); Khan et al. (2017); Cho (2017); King et al. (2014); Zhang and Koutsoukos (2013); Dragule et al. (2017); Legat and Vogel-Heuser (2017); Giles and Giammarco (2017); Grüttner et al. (2017); Neema et al. (2016); Albert and Christian (2013); Thramboulidis and Christoulakis (2016); van den Berg et al. (2015); Wang et al. (2015); Amgai et al. (2014); Appel et al. (2014); Armentia et al. (2014); Seiger et al. (2017); Tóth et al. (2012); Liu et al. (2017); Lollini et al. (2016); Baumgartner et al. (2014); Yin et al. (2016); Hoffmann et al. (2017); Brocanelli et al. (2015); Herrmann and Blech (2016); Liu et al. (2013); Mallet et al. (2017); ZHU et al. (2014); Vellaithurai et al. (2015); Gribaudo and Remke (2016); Kacem et al. (2017); Mazzolini et al. (2017); Ribeiro et al. (2017); Troubitsyna et al. (2016); Drago et al. (2016); Vanherpen et al. (2015); Lin et al. (2016); Varró et al. (2016); Leung et al. (2009); Nam et al. (2016)

4.2.2 Reported tools and modelling languages

Further, we analyzed whether there is a tool or modelling languages that supports integrated modelling of CPS systems (*Q1.2 Does the paper report a tool/language?*). Figure 4.12 shows the results. 77% of primary studies report tools or modelling languages which were developed to support the approach or were used by the approach, while 23% do not. The selected studies that report tools/languages are listed as follows:

Attarzadeh-Niaki and Sander (2016); Barišić et al. (2017); Basile et al. (2016); Dang and Gogolla (2009); Fitzgerald et al. (2015); Walch (2017); Latombe et al. (2015); Casella et al. (2017); Fitzgerald et al. (2014); Denil et al. (2017); Herrera et al. (2015); Juhász et al. (2015); Lickly et al. (2011); Vara Larsen et al. (2015); Zhang and Feng (2014); Bergmann et al. (2017); Tomašević et al. (2015); Magureanu et al. (2013); Asensio et al. (2017); Canadas et al. (2018); Chaki and Edmondson (2014); de Farias et al. (2017); Dillon et al. (2012); Gonçalves et al. (2016); Hackenberg et al. (2016); Heinze et al. (2012); Combaz et al. (2015); Marrone and Gentile (2016); Gerostathopoulos et al. (2016); Novák et al. (2017); Sobottka et al. (2017); Zhang et al. (2017a); Carnevali et al. (2014); Giese and Schäfer (2013); Gunes et al. (2015); Jiang et al. (2014); Sztipanovits et al. (2017); Törngren et al. (2014); Ciccozzi et al. (2016); Moyano et al. (2014); Sztipanovits et al. (2014); Tendeloo and Vangheluwe







Figure 4.12: Reported modelling tools or languages

(2017); Murguzur et al. (2013); Chiaradonna et al. (2012); Son et al. (2012); Ni and Broenink (2014); Durak et al. (2017); Lerm et al. (2015); Weissnegger et al. (2016); Kusmenko et al. (2017); Alhafidh and Allen (2017); Apvrille and Roudier (2015); Mallet (2015); Rovers and Kuper (2013); von Hanxleden et al. (2012); Nejati et al. (2012); Neisse et al. (2015); Huang et al. (2014); Eusgeld et al. (2011); Francalanza et al. (2017); Bernard and Chenouard (2014); Gauthier et al. (2015); Hecht (2016); Montecchi et al. (2012); Arrieta et al. (2017); i Casas and i Casas (2017); Greenver et al. (2014); Basile et al. (2017); Holden et al. (2013); Hu et al. (2015); Garcia et al. (2012); Myers and Atkinson (2013); Dubois and Pohl (2017); Seiger et al. (2015); Sharaf et al. (2017); Canedo and Richter (2014); Dávid (2016); Simko et al. (2013); Van Der Auweraer et al. (2013); Méry and Singh (2013); Fernández-Isabel and Fuentes-Fernández (2016); Zhang (2013); Cicirellia et al. (2017); Wehrmeister et al. (2014); Di Alesio and Sen (2017); Franchin and Cavalieri (2013); Zhang et al. (2017b); Heinzemann et al. (2017); Dávid et al. (2018); Stiel et al. (2016); Khan et al. (2017); King et al. (2014); Zhang and Koutsoukos (2013); Dragule et al. (2017); Legat and Vogel-Heuser (2017); Giles and Giammarco (2017); Grüttner et al. (2017); Neema et al. (2016); Ruiz et al. (2016); Albert and Christian (2013); Thramboulidis and Christoulakis (2016); van den Berg et al. (2015); Wang et al. (2015); Amgai et al. (2014); Appel et al. (2014); Tóth et al. (2012); Dayal et al. (2015); Lollini et al. (2016); Baumgartner et al. (2014); Yin et al. (2016); Herrmann and Blech (2016); Liu et al. (2013); Mallet et al. (2017); Vellaithurai et al. (2015); Gribaudo and Remke (2016); Kacem et al. (2017); Ribeiro et al. (2017); Drago et al. (2016); Yu et al. (2014); Vanherpen et al. (2015); Lin et al. (2016); Varró et al. (2016); Leung et al. (2009); Nam et al. (2016)

4.2.3 Reported processes

Finally, in regard to RQ1, we analyzed whether the papers propose any process for engineering CPS (*Q1.3 Does the paper report the model of the adopted process?*). Less than half of the selected papers (43%) presented an explicit process, while most of the papers (57%) did not. The list below presents the papers that reported a process:

Denil et al. (2017); Herrera et al. (2015); Magureanu et al. (2013); Bloomfield et al. (2017); Canadas et al. (2018); Cicirelli et al. (2017); de Farias et al. (2017); Gonçalves et al. (2016); Hackenberg et al. (2016); Marrone and Gentile (2016); Gerostathopoulos et al. (2016); Törngren et al. (2014); Sztipanovits et al. (2014); Tendeloo and





Figure 4.13: Reported processes

Vangheluwe (2017); Chiaradonna et al. (2012); Ni and Broenink (2014); Lerm et al. (2015); Weissnegger et al. (2016); Apvrille and Roudier (2015); Nejati et al. (2012); Neisse et al. (2015); Huang et al. (2014); Francalanza et al. (2017); Bernard and Chenouard (2014); Gauthier et al. (2015); Hecht (2016); Arrieta et al. (2017); Greenyer et al. (2014); Basile et al. (2017); Holden et al. (2013); Uva et al. (2017); Hu et al. (2015); Garcia et al. (2012); Dubois and Pohl (2017); Seiger et al. (2015); Sharaf et al. (2017); Dávid (2016); Van Der Auweraer et al. (2013); Cicirellia et al. (2017); Wehrmeister et al. (2014); Di Alesio and Sen (2017); Zhang et al. (2017b); Heinzemann et al. (2017); Dávid et al. (2018); Bliudze et al. (2017); Zhang and Koutsoukos (2013); Dragule et al. (2017); Legat and Vogel-Heuser (2017); Giles and Giammarco (2017); Gräßler et al. (2017); Grüttner et al. (2017); Albert and Christian (2013); van den Berg et al. (2015); Wang et al. (2015); Amgai et al. (2014); Appel et al. (2014); Seiger et al. (2017); Lollini et al. (2016); Hoffmann et al. (2017); Brocanelli et al. (2015); Herrmann and Blech (2016); Liu et al. (2013); Mallet et al. (2017); ZHU et al. (2014); Vellaithurai et al. (2015); Kacem et al. (2017); Ribeiro et al. (2017); Vanherpen et al. (2015); Nam et al. (2016)

Regarding the modelling approaches for building CPS, the following is observed: most of primary studies report model or meta-model (83%), a large number of papers referred to tools or modelling languages (77%), while less than half of the papers presented the modelling process.

4.3 Multi-paradigm modelling approaches

In this section, we present the findings for **RQ2: Does the paper report a multi-paradigm mod**elling approach?

As shown in Figure 4.14, almost half of the papers (43%) support some multi-paradigm modelling approach, while the rest 57% support modelling of a particular part of the CPS (physical, network, communication, or software). Thus, a substantial part of CPS modelling research is involved in MPM.

The list below presents papers that reported a multi-paradigm modelling approach:

Basile et al. (2016); Zhang and Feng (2014); Fitzgerald et al. (2014); Denil et al. (2017); Herrera et al. (2015); Lickly et al. (2011); Vara Larsen et al. (2015); Magureanu et al. (2013); Bloomfield et al. (2017); Cicirelli et al. (2017); Gonçalves et al. (2016); Hackenberg et al. (2016); Heinze et al. (2012); Bujorianu and Piterman (2015); Mar-



Q2: Does the paper report a multi-paradigm modelling approach?



Figure 4.14: Reported multi-paradigm modelling approaches

rone and Gentile (2016); Novák et al. (2017); Sobottka et al. (2017); Carnevali et al. (2014); Giese and Schäfer (2013); Sztipanovits et al. (2017); Törngren et al. (2014); Zhang and Feng (2014); Sztipanovits et al. (2014); Tendeloo and Vangheluwe (2017); Murguzur et al. (2013); Chiaradonna et al. (2012); Son et al. (2012); Ni and Broenink (2014); Dávid et al. (2016); Lerm et al. (2015); Weissnegger et al. (2016); Apvrille and Roudier (2015); von Hanxleden et al. (2012); Neisse et al. (2015); Huang et al. (2014); Eusgeld et al. (2011); Francalanza et al. (2017); Hecht (2016); Arrieta et al. (2017); i Casas and i Casas (2017); Garcia et al. (2012); Sharaf et al. (2017); Dávid (2016); Van Der Auweraer et al. (2017); Wehrmeister et al. (2014); Zhang et al. (2017); Heinzemann et al. (2017); Dávid et al. (2017); Mehrmeister et al. (2017); Khan et al. (2017); King et al. (2014); Grüttner et al. (2017); Tóth et al. (2017); Lollini et al. (2016); Baumgartner et al. (2017); Drago et al. (2017); Mallet et al. (2017); Vellaithurai et al. (2015); Kacem et al. (2017); Daw et al. (2016); Yu et al. (2014); Vanherpen et al. (2015); Varró et al. (2016); Nam et al. (2016)

4.3.1 Extent of reported model-driven development

From the papers that report a multi-paradigm modelling approach, approximately one-third (23 studies) present a complete model-driven development approach:

Fitzgerald et al. (2014); Denil et al. (2017); Hackenberg et al. (2016); Heinze et al. (2012); Marrone and Gentile (2016); Törngren et al. (2014); Sztipanovits et al. (2014); Murguzur et al. (2013); Ni and Broenink (2014); Dávid et al. (2016); Lerm et al. (2015); Weissnegger et al. (2016); Apvrille and Roudier (2015); Huang et al. (2014); Eusgeld et al. (2011); i Casas and i Casas (2017); Garcia et al. (2012); Dávid (2016); Zhang (2013); Cicirellia et al. (2017); Wehrmeister et al. (2014); Zhang et al. (2017)

For example, Sztipanovits et al. (2014) proposed an approach based on several consecutive phases of development, with increasing levels of fidelity, that is complete from modelling to simulation, with appropriate tools. Furthermore, Lerm et al. (2015) proposed an approach that use the XMI from SysML/UML models to extract task graph (TG) and Processing Unit graph. They provide an editor for modelling SysML, transformation to task graph and Processing Unit graph, from which they generate code.

A wide spectrum of formalisms is used for modelling CPS, with the following common examples:

- Discrete events: Fitzgerald et al. (2014); Denil et al. (2017); Vara Larsen et al. (2015); Sobottka et al. (2017); Ni and Broenink (2014).
- Various UML and SysML diagrams: Herrera et al. (2015); Heinze et al. (2012); Tendeloo and Vangheluwe (2017); Zhang et al. (2017b); Hoffmann et al. (2017); Kacem et al. (2017).
- Formalisms based on dataflows: Bliudze et al. (2017); Grüttner et al. (2017); Baumgartner et al. (2014); Herrera et al. (2015).
- Petri nets: Carnevali et al. (2014); Marrone and Gentile (2016); Tendeloo and Vangheluwe (2017); Eusgeld et al. (2011); King et al. (2014).
- Various types of mathematical equations: Hecht (2016); Van Der Auweraer et al. (2013); Bliudze et al. (2017); Grüttner et al. (2017); Sobottka et al. (2017); Carnevali et al. (2014).

According to the integration mechanisms, the dominant approach used to integrate the model is *semantic anchoring* (such as Denil et al. (2017); Herrera et al. (2015); Vara Larsen et al. (2015); Hackenberg et al. (2016); Heinze et al. (2012)) as well as *co-modelling and co-simulation* (Carnevali et al. (2014); Ni and Broenink (2014); Fernández-Isabel and Fuentes-Fernández (2016)). However, there is an approach which uses a language to describe how two models are integrated (Sztipanovits et al. (2017)).

4.4 Domain-specificity of modelling approaches

In this section, we present the findings for **RQ3: Which application domains have been considered?** Figure 4.15 shows that over one third of the papers (38%) presented approaches that are domain-specific, while a majority of the papers are domain-independent (62%) - meaning that they are applicable to CPS in general.



Figure 4.15: Domain-specificity of modelling approaches

The list below presents the papers that reported that the proposed modelling approach is domain-specific:

Basile et al. (2016); Casella et al. (2017); Denil et al. (2017); Antal et al. (2017); Asensio et al. (2017); de Farias et al. (2017); Gonçalves et al. (2016); Hackenberg et al. (2016); Heinze et al. (2012); Marrone and Gentile (2016); Shuja et al. (2014); Zhang et al. (2017a); Carnevali et al. (2014); Ciccozzi et al. (2016); Premm and Kirn (2015); Murguzur et al. (2013); Calinescu (2013); Chiaradonna et al. (2012); Woodard and Sedigh (2013); Weissnegger et al. (2016); Alhafidh and Allen (2017); Nejati et al. (2012); Pournaras et al. (2013); Francalanza et al. (2017); Bernard and



Chenouard (2014); Caramihai and Dumitrache (2013); Hecht (2016); Montecchi et al. (2012); i Casas and i Casas (2017); Greenyer et al. (2014); Dubois and Pohl (2017); Sharaf et al. (2017); Van Der Auweraer et al. (2013); Méry and Singh (2013); Fernández-Isabel and Fuentes-Fernández (2016); Zhang (2013); Cicirellia et al. (2017); Wehrmeister et al. (2014); Faschang et al. (2016); Franchin and Cavalieri (2013); Frtunikj et al. (2014); Stiel et al. (2016); Khan et al. (2017); Cho (2017); King et al. (2014); Dragule et al. (2017); Legat and Vogel-Heuser (2017); Giles and Giammarco (2017); Gräßler et al. (2017); Grüttner et al. (2017); Neema et al. (2016); Thramboulidis and Christoulakis (2016); van den Berg et al. (2015); Wang et al. (2015); Amgai et al. (2014); Tóth et al. (2012); Hoffmann et al. (2017); ZHU et al. (2014); Gribaudo and Remke (2016); Ribeiro et al. (2017); Vanherpen et al. (2015)

4.4.1 Application domains

According to the characterization of application domain to which the proposed approaches can be/ or were applied, Figure 4.16 shows that approximately the same number of papers address Critical Infrastructure, Intelligent Transportation, Smart Manufacturing and Building Automation domains. Most of the reviewed papers refer to some other domain that is not listed for the reviewers, demonstrating the diversity of CPS domains. We allowed the reviewers to characterize the domain using up to three choices, independently if the approach was reported as domain-specific or not. The reasoning behind this was that even for general approaches, the application is illustrated using one or more domains.



Figure 4.16: Reported application domains

The list below presents papers by the application domains that are addressed:

- Air Transportation: Herrera et al. (2015); Lickly et al. (2011); Chaki and Edmondson (2014); Gonçalves et al. (2016); Zhang and Feng (2014); Mertins et al. (2012); Mallet (2015); Gauthier et al. (2015)
- Building Automation: Asensio et al. (2017); Cicirelli et al. (2017); de Farias et al. (2017); Marrone and Gentile (2016); Pazzi and Pellicciari (2017); Zhang et al. (2017a); Gunes et al. (2015); Tao et al. (2017); Murguzur et al. (2013); Lerm et al. (2015); i Casas and i Casas (2017); Faschang et al. (2016); Zhang et al. (2017b); Khan et al. (2017); Legat and Vogel-Heuser (2017); Albert and Christian (2013); Armentia et al. (2014); Herrmann and Blech (2016)

- Critical Infrastructure: Casella et al. (2017); Antal et al. (2017); Bloomfield et al. (2017); Burillo et al. (2017); Shuja et al. (2014); Hartmann et al. (2014); Moyano et al. (2014); Chiaradonna et al. (2012); Eusgeld et al. (2011); Holden et al. (2013); Hu et al. (2015); Garcia et al. (2012); Sharaf et al. (2017); Di Alesio and Sen (2017); Grüttner et al. (2017); Amgai et al. (2014); Seiger et al. (2017); Dayal et al. (2015); Liu et al. (2017); Brocanelli et al. (2015); Liu et al. (2013); Mallet et al. (2017); Vellaithurai et al. (2015); Gribaudo and Remke (2016); Drago et al. (2016)
- Emergency Response: Gerostathopoulos et al. (2016); Hecht (2016); Wang et al. (2015)
- Health Care and Medicine: Heinze et al. (2012); Jiang et al. (2014); Neisse et al. (2015); Méry and Singh (2013); King et al. (2014); van den Berg et al. (2015)
- Intelligent Transportation: Basile et al. (2016); Kokolaki et al. (2014); Giese and Schäfer (2013); Sztipanovits et al. (2014); Tendeloo and Vangheluwe (2017); Weissnegger et al. (2016); Apvrille and Roudier (2015); Huang et al. (2014); Bernard and Chenouard (2014); Greenyer et al. (2014); Canedo and Richter (2014); Fernández-Isabel and Fuentes-Fernández (2016); Frtunikj et al. (2014); Heinzemann et al. (2017); Appel et al. (2014); Baumgartner et al. (2014); Yin et al. (2016); Yu et al. (2014); Leung et al. (2009); Nam et al. (2016)
- Robotic for Service: Fitzgerald et al. (2014); Törngren et al. (2014); Dávid (2016); Zhang (2013); Dragule et al. (2017); Kacem et al. (2017); Ribeiro et al. (2017)
- Smart Manufacturing: Canadas et al. (2018); Hackenberg et al. (2016); Novák et al. (2017); Sobottka et al. (2017); Um et al. (2017); Ni and Broenink (2014); Excoffon et al. (2016); Uva et al. (2017); Dubois and Pohl (2017); Cicirellia et al. (2017); Wehrmeister et al. (2014); Franchin and Cavalieri (2013); Stiel et al. (2016); Cho (2017); Gräßler et al. (2017); Neema et al. (2016); Thramboulidis and Christoulakis (2016); Hoffmann et al. (2017); ZHU et al. (2014)
- Other: Attarzadeh-Niaki and Sander (2016); Barišić et al. (2017); Dang and Gogolla (2009); Fitzgerald et al. (2015); Walch (2017); Latombe et al. (2015); Denil et al. (2017); Juhász et al. (2015); Vara Larsen et al. (2015); Zhang (2014); Bergmann et al. (2017); Tomašević et al. (2015); Magureanu et al. (2013); Dillon et al. (2012); Bujorianu and Piterman (2015); Combaz et al. (2015); Carnevali et al. (2014); Sztipanovits et al. (2017); Ciccozzi et al. (2016); Premm and Kirn (2015); Calinescu (2013); Son et al. (2012); Woodard and Sedigh (2013); Dávid et al. (2016); Durak et al. (2017); Kusmenko et al. (2017); Alhafidh and Allen (2017); Rovers and Kuper (2013); von Hanxleden et al. (2012); Nejati et al. (2012); Pournaras et al. (2013); Francalanza et al. (2017); Caramihai and Dumitrache (2013); Montecchi et al. (2012); Arrieta et al. (2017); Basile et al. (2017); Myers and Atkinson (2013); Seiger et al. (2015); Simko et al. (2013); Van Der Auweraer et al. (2013); Dávid et al. (2018); Bliudze et al. (2017); Delicato et al. (2017); Zhang and Koutsoukos (2013); Giles and Giammarco (2017); Ruiz et al. (2016); Tóth et al. (2012); Lollini et al. (2016); Varró et al. (2016);

4.5 Profiles of stakeholders involved in modelling of the CPS

In this section, we present the findings for **RQ4: What is the profile of the person which perform modelling of CPS?**

Figure 4.17 shows a concerning fact that only 14% of the papers report the actors/stakeholders involved in modelling of the CPS. We conclude that research papers need to present the expected profiles of engineers or users for their CPS modelling methods.

The list below presents papers that described the actors/stakeholders involved in modelling of the CPS:



Q4: Does the paper report the actors/stakeholders involved in modelling of the CPS?



Figure 4.17: Reported actors or stakeholders involved in modelling of CPS

Denil et al. (2017); Vara Larsen et al. (2015); Asensio et al. (2017); Combaz et al. (2015); Kokolaki et al. (2014); Zhang et al. (2017a); Hartmann et al. (2014); Törngren et al. (2014); Moyano et al. (2014); Premm and Kirn (2015); Weissnegger et al. (2016); Apvrille and Roudier (2015); Neisse et al. (2015); Francalanza et al. (2017); Di Alesio and Sen (2017); Zhang et al. (2017b); Khan et al. (2017); Wang et al. (2015); Tóth et al. (2012); Baumgartner et al. (2014); Drago et al. (2016); Yu et al. (2014); Nam et al. (2016)

The reviewers categorized them as follows (it was possible to select several options):

- CPS engineer (13): Vara Larsen et al. (2015); Antal et al. (2017); Bloomfield et al. (2017); de Farias et al. (2017); Combaz et al. (2015); Weissnegger et al. (2016); Apvrille and Roudier (2015); Di Alesio and Sen (2017); Zhang et al. (2017b); Tóth et al. (2012); Drago et al. (2016); Yu et al. (2014); Nam et al. (2016)
- CPS user (6): Asensio et al. (2017); Kokolaki et al. (2014); Zhang et al. (2017a); Moyano et al. (2014); Premm and Kirn (2015); Neisse et al. (2015)
- Domain expert (5): Barišić et al. (2017); Denil et al. (2017); Magureanu et al. (2013); Hartmann et al. (2014); Törngren et al. (2014)
- Evaluation expert (1): Baumgartner et al. (2014)
- Other (8): Basile et al. (2016); Dang and Gogolla (2009); Fitzgerald et al. (2015); Zhang and Feng (2014); Walch (2017); Latombe et al. (2015); Bergmann et al. (2017); Francalanza et al. (2017)

4.5.1 Modeler's background knowledge

A similar situation to the above (perhaps even worse) is observed in terms of reporting the modeler's background knowledge. Figure 4.18 shows that a negligible number of papers (only 5%) report the modeler's background knowledge.

4.5.2 Technical background of the authors

During the review process, the reviewers were able to select several categories and suggest new ones by selecting the *Other* for the technical background of the authors. It was possible to choose 3 options from a drop down menu, but also to suggest more options in a text box.





Figure 4.18: Reported background knowledge of CPS modelers

Figure 4.19 shows the technical background of the authors. Almost half of the authors (48%) are software engineers. The electrical engineers constitute 18.9%, while the authors with mechanical engineering and physics background are far smaller number. This leads us to conclude that the research on CPS is mostly pursued in the fields of computer science, software engineering, and electrical engineering.



Figure 4.19: Reported technical background of the authors

The list below presents papers by the authors backgrounds:

- Electrical Engineering (30): Casella et al. (2017); Herrera et al. (2015); Antal et al. (2017); Hackenberg et al. (2016); Sobottka et al. (2017); Jiang et al. (2014); Sztipanovits et al. (2017, 2014); Tao et al. (2017); Ni and Broenink (2014); Weissnegger et al. (2016); Huang et al. (2014); Arrieta et al. (2017); Hu et al. (2015); Garcia et al. (2012); Simko et al. (2013); Méry and Singh (2013); Zhang and Koutsoukos (2013); Dragule et al. (2017); Grüttner et al. (2017); Neema et al. (2016); Amgai et al. (2014); Armentia et al. (2014); Dayal et al. (2015); Hoffmann et al. (2017); Brocanelli et al. (2015); Vellaithurai et al. (2015); Kacem et al. (2017); Mazzolini et al. (2017); Ribeiro et al. (2017)
- Mechanics Engineering (12): Canadas et al. (2018); Gonçalves et al. (2016); Zhang et al. (2017a); Eusgeld et al. (2011); Bernard and Chenouard (2014); Uva et al. (2017); Van Der Auweraer et al. (2013); Bliudze et al. (2017); Gräßler et al. (2017); Albert and Christian (2013); Thramboulidis and Christoulakis (2016); Troubitsyna et al. (2016)
- Physics (6): Fitzgerald et al. (2014); Denil et al. (2017); Hecht (2016); Tóth et al. (2012); Liu et al. (2017); ZHU et al. (2014)



- Software Engineering (77): Attarzadeh-Niaki and Sander (2016); Barišić et al. (2017); Basile et al. (2016); Dang and Gogolla (2009); Fitzgerald et al. (2015); Latombe et al. (2015); Lickly et al. (2011); Vara Larsen et al. (2015); Zhang and Feng (2014); Bergmann et al. (2017); Magureanu et al. (2013); Bloomfield et al. (2017); Dillon et al. (2012); Marrone and Gentile (2016); Gerostathopoulos et al. (2016); Novák et al. (2017); Giese and Schäfer (2013); Gunes et al. (2015); Hartmann et al. (2014); Zhang (2014); Ciccozzi et al. (2016); Moyano et al. (2014); Son et al. (2012); Woodard and Sedigh (2013); Dávid et al. (2016); Durak et al. (2017); Kusmenko et al. (2017); Alhafidh and Allen (2017); Apvrille and Roudier (2015); Mallet (2015); von Hanxleden et al. (2012); Nejati et al. (2012); Excoffon et al. (2016); Francalanza et al. (2017); Gauthier et al. (2015); Caramihai and Dumitrache (2013); Montecchi et al. (2012); Greenyer et al. (2014); Basile et al. (2017); Holden et al. (2013); Myers and Atkinson (2013); Dubois and Pohl (2017); Seiger et al. (2015); Sharaf et al. (2017); Canedo and Richter (2014); Dávid (2016); Fernández-Isabel and Fuentes-Fernández (2016); Zhang (2013); Cicirellia et al. (2017); Wehrmeister et al. (2014); Faschang et al. (2016); Franchin and Cavalieri (2013); Zhang et al. (2017b); Frtunikj et al. (2014); Heinzemann et al. (2017); Dávid et al. (2018); Stiel et al. (2016); Khan et al. (2017); Cho (2017); Giles and Giammarco (2017); Ruiz et al. (2016); van den Berg et al. (2015); Wang et al. (2015); Appel et al. (2014); Seiger et al. (2017); Lollini et al. (2016); Baumgartner et al. (2014); Yin et al. (2016); Herrmann and Blech (2016); Liu et al. (2013); Gribaudo and Remke (2016); Drago et al. (2016); Yu et al. (2014); Vanherpen et al. (2015); Lin et al. (2016); Varró et al. (2016); Leung et al. (2009); Nam et al. (2016)
- Other (34): Zhang and Feng (2014); Walch (2017); Juhász et al. (2015); Tomašević et al. (2015); Asensio et al. (2017); Burillo et al. (2017); Chaki and Edmondson (2014); Cicirelli et al. (2017); de Farias et al. (2017); Heinze et al. (2012); Bujorianu and Piterman (2015); Combaz et al. (2015); Kokolaki et al. (2014); Pazzi and Pellicciari (2017); Shuja et al. (2014); Um et al. (2017); Carnevali et al. (2014); Törngren et al. (2014); Premm and Kirn (2015); Tendeloo and Vangheluwe (2017); Murguzur et al. (2013); Calinescu (2013); Chiaradonna et al. (2012); Mertins et al. (2012); Lerm et al. (2015); Rovers and Kuper (2013); Pournaras et al. (2013); Neisse et al. (2015); i Casas and i Casas (2017); Di Alesio and Sen (2017); King et al. (2014); Delicato et al. (2017); Legat and Vogel-Heuser (2017); Mallet et al. (2017)



5 Conclusion and Future Work

This report presents a systematic literature review on multi-paradigm modelling of cyberphysical systems. This systematic study was performed in the context of the *ICT COST Action IC1404 Multi-Paradigm Modelling for Cyber-Physical Systems (MPM4CPS) – Working Group 4 (WG1) on Education and Dissemination of MPM4CPS.*

In total, 315 of considered 396 primary studies were reviewed by 15 researchers from different universities and companies. The SLR present the analysis based on a quantitative synthesis of data extracted from 160 primary studies and reports on

- modelling approaches for building CPS by indicating studies which report models and meta-models, tools and modelling languages and reported processes
- multi-paradigm modelling approaches by indicating studies which use a specific kind of modeling formalism
- domain-specificity of modelling approaches by indicating the studies which were applied in certain classification domain
- profiles of stakeholders involved in modelling.

Based on current results, we could observe that the most of the approaches report models or meta-models and modeling tools and languages which were used, however, less then half of them report on the process which is applied during modeling. Surprisingly, it is shown that almost 43% of approaches do report multi-paradigm modeling approach, however, only 23 studies present a complete model-driven development approach. Further, most of the approaches (62%) are proposed for the modeling of any CPS, while the rest were domain-specific. Finally, only 14% of studies report actors or stakeholders which were involved in modeling, and only 5% report on modelers background knowledge.

As a future work, we plan to complete the classification of the remaining 81 primary studies. Further, it will be necessary to perform the extensive descriptive synthesis of the results. We expect to obtain a complete list of the tools, modeling languages and formalisms which were used by the CPS modeling approaches. Next, we expect to obtain insight regarding which part of the CPS modeling tools and formalisms were used. Finally, we expect to obtain more sound classification of the application domain and profiles of stakeholders involved in modeling of the CPS.



6 Acknowledgements

We would like to thank Prof. Paulo Carreira, Prof. Geylani Kardas, Prof. Ivan Lukovic and Prof. Mauro Iacono for their feedback during construction of protocol. We thank Dr. Letitia W. Li for her contribution with classification of primary studies and revision of report. Finally, we thank Prof. Eugene Syriani and Brice Bigendako for their constant support with the ReLis platform.



A Protocol Validation Survey

This appendix describes the details of the protocol validation survey. A high-level overview is provided above, in Section 2.2.

A.1 Survey Solicitation

The following request to participate in the validation survey was sent to the MPM members of the COST action IC1404 (announcements@mpm4cps.eu) and the department of Computer Sciences and Languages of the University of Malaga (allmembers.mpm4cps@lcc.uma.es):

Title: SLR MPM4CPS Survey form

Body: Survey fill-in form: https://goo.gl/forms/E1HNz0feAQTmitN53

This survey intends to evaluate the protocol proposed for the conduction of the Systematic Literature Review (SLR) study on Multi-Paradigm Modelling of Cyber-Physical Systems (CPSs) in the scope of WG4.

A. Please the analyze the Google Sheets document https://goo.gl/DJx9wa, which details the SLR study planning (including search criteria and research questions).

B. Please answer the survey below.

Please take in consideration that you will be asked in the end to give an estimated time needed to fill this form.

If you have any doubt, feel free to contact me: Ankica Barisic (a.barisic@campus.fct.unl.pt) Dusan Savic (dules@fon.bg.ac.rs)

The survey form "Multi-paradigm modelling for CPSs SLR" contained 9 sections:

- 1. "Participant Information"
- 2. "SLR Basic Data"
- 3. "Research Questions"
- 4. "Search Sources"
- 5. "Search Keywords and Queries"
- 6. "Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria"
- 7. "Data Extraction Strategy"
- 8. "Quality Assessment Strategy"
- 9. "Final Considerations"

A.2 Survey Results

Here we describe the responses obtained from 10 participants on the survey. These results were used for protocol validation that was conducted during Working Group Meetings in Riga (26-27 April 2018). The responses are described in the order of sections.

Most questions about the SLR itself are phrased using the Likert 5-point scale: strongly disagree (1), disagree (2), neither agree or disagree (3), agree (4), strongly agree (5). Unless otherwise indicated, this interpretation of the horizontal scale applies to the figures in this section.

The first section contains general information and question about participants expertise concerning the SLR. Figure A.1 shows that more than two-thirds of the respondents have some expertise in conducting SLRs.





Figure A.1: Expertise of survey participants in SLRs

Section *"SLR Basic Data"* contains questions about the goals and motivation of this SLR. According to Figure A.2, the participants were in agreement that studying literature on MPM for CPS is a sound objective. According to Figure A.3, there exists a need for such a SLR.



Figure A.2: Responses regarding the SLR goal soundness



Figure A.3: Responses regarding the SLR justification

The section *"Research Questions"* contains surveys the participants about the SLR research questions. Most participants agreed that the search research questions covered the objectives of the SLR (Figure A.4) and were clear (Figure A.5). The outlier responses were followed up with to improve the wording of the research questions.

The next section, *"Search Sources"*, asked whether the indicated sources were representative. It was concluded that the source are highly representative of the literature on modelling CPS, as shown in Figure A.6

Section 5 of the survey, "Search Keywords and Queries", asked the participants about three potential queries for retrieving the primary studies. The queries and their results were summarized above, in Section 2.2.1. While all the queries in general were deemed to have somewhat Do the research questions cover the objective of this SLR?

10 одговора



Figure A.4: Responses regarding the SLR research questions covering the objectives



Figure A.5: Responses regarding the clarity of the SLR questions

Are the selected search sources representative to the area of study?



Figure A.6: Responses regarding representativeness of search sources

sufficient keywords, Figures (A.7, A.8, A.9) show that Query **Q1** had the least agreement between the respondents, while Query **Q3** had the most agreement. In terms of fit, the participants indicated that Query **Q2** was the best-fitting, as shown in Figure A.10.

The sixth section, "Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria", contained the question, "Are the inclusion/exclusion criteria complete enough to achieve the study objectives?" and asked for recommendations on improving the criteria ("Write recommendation to add/delete or improve inclusion or exclusion criteria"). The results indicated that the participants considered the criteria complete, as indicated in Figure A.11.

The section "Data Extraction Strategy" contains question "Is the data extraction Form complete enough to achieve SLR objectives?" and asks for recommendations on the improve data extraction strategy. According to the results that are presented on the Figure A.12, the participants found the strategy mostly complete, but in need of some improvement. The provided suggestions helped in making the strategy more comprehensive and reliable.



Do the query S1 have the sufficient keywords to achieve SLR objectives?

10 одговора



Figure A.7: Responses about keyword sufficiency of Query Q1

Do the query S2 have the sufficient keywords to achieve SLR objectives?



Figure A.8: Responses about keyword sufficiency of Query Q2

Do the query S3 have the sufficient keywords to achieve SLR objectives?



Figure A.9: Responses about keyword sufficiency of Query Q3

What query in your opinion is a best fit for SLR objectives 10 одговора



Figure A.10: Responses regarding the best-fitting query for the SLR objectives

The section eight is "Quality Assessment Strategy", asking the participants of whether the quality assessment criteria were complete. Figure A.13 indicates that most participants agreed that the







Is the data extraction Form complete enough to achieve SLR objectives?

Figure A.12: Responses regarding the completeness of the data extraction strategy

criteria were mostly complete. The outlier responder provided valuable feedback to improve the quality assessment strategy.



Figure A.13: Responses regarding the completeness of the quality assessment criteria

The last section, *"Final Considerations"*, asked the participants if they were interesting in performing the SLR or had access to the online publications. Most participants indicated their willingness (Figures A.14 and A.15). The survey also asked the participants for the time required to fill out the form. The distribution of times follows the bell curve with the mean of approximately 25 minutes, as indicated in Figure A.16.

To summarize, the survey indicated that the goals of the SLR were well-motivated, and most of the protocol elements were considered appropriate for those goals. Multiple recommendations of the survey participants helped further improve the SLR protocol.





Figure A.14: Responses regarding willingness to contribute to this SLR



Figure A.15: Responses regarding the full access to Springer's publications



Figure A.16: Responses regarding the time spent on the protocol validation survey



Bibliography

- Al-Ali, R. (2017), Industrial Use Cases of Cyber Physical Systems in EU Projects: Preliminary Study., in *Preprints of position papers of the Federated Conference on Computer Science and Information Systems (FedCSIS)*, Prague, Czech Republic, pp. 187–193.
- Al-Ali, R., M. Amrani, A. Barišić, F. Barros, D. Blouin, H. Giese, M. Goulão, M. Iacono, E. Navarro, K. Vangheluwe, Hans; Vanherpen and M. Wimmer (2017a), State-of-the-art on Current Formalisms used in Cyber-Physical Systems Development 1201234567891-0 1, Technical report, ICT COST Action IC1404 Multi-ParadigmModelling for Cyber-Physical Systems (MPM4CPS).
- Al-Ali, R., A. Barisic, F. Barros, D. Blouin, E. Borde, M. Ganza, H. Gieze, M. Lacono, P. Kieseberg and B. Tekinerdogan (2017b), Framework to Relate/Combine Modeling Languages and Techniques, Technical report, ICT COST Action IC1404 Multi-ParadigmModelling for Cyber-Physical Systems (MPM4CPS).
- Al-Zubidy, A., J. C. Carver, D. P. Hale and E. E. Hassler (2017), Vision for SLR tooling infrastructure: Prioritizing value-added requirements, *Information and Software Technology*, **91**, pp. 72–81, ISSN 09505849, doi:10.1016/j.infsof.2017.06.007. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.infsof.2017.06.007
- Albert, A. and Z. Christian (2013), Extending SysML for Engineering Designers by Integration of the Contact & Channel âĂŞ Approach (C&C2-A) for Function-Based Modeling of Technical Systems, *Procedia Computer Science*, 16, pp. 353–362, ISSN 1877-0509, doi:10.1016/J.PROCS.2013.01.037.
 http:

//www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1877050913000380

- Alhafidh, B. M. H. and W. H. Allen (2017), High Level Design of a Home Autonomous System Based on Cyber Physical System Modeling, in 2017 IEEE 37th International Conference on Distributed Computing Systems Workshops (ICDCSW), IEEE, pp. 45–52, ISBN 978-1-5386-3292-5, doi:10.1109/ICDCSW.2017.14. http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/7979794/
- Amgai, R., J. Shi and S. Abdelwahed (2014), An integrated lookahead control-based adaptive supervisory framework for autonomic power system applications, *International Journal of Electrical Power & Energy Systems*, **63**, pp. 824–835, ISSN 0142-0615, doi:10.1016/J.IJEPES.2014.06.033. http:

//www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0142061514003822

Antal, M., C. Pop, T. Cioara, I. Anghel, I. Salomie and F. Pop (2017), A System of Systems approach for data centers optimization and integration into smart energy grids, *Future Generation Computer Systems*, ISSN 0167-739X, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.future.2017.05.021.

https:

//www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0167739X17310129

Appel, S., P. Kleber, S. Frischbier, T. Freudenreich and A. Buchmann (2014), Modeling and execution of event stream processing in business processes, *Information Systems*, **46**, pp. 140–156, ISSN 0306-4379, doi:10.1016/J.IS.2014.04.002. http:

//www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S030643791400057X

Apvrille, L. and Y. Roudier (2015), Designing safe and secure embedded and cyber-physical systems with SysML-Sec, in *MODELSWARD 2015: Model-Driven Engineering and Software Development*, volume 580, Springer, Cham, volume 580, pp. 293–308, ISBN 9783319278681,



ISSN 18650929, doi:10.1007/978-3-319-27869-8{_}17. http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-319-27869-8_17

Armentia, A., A. Agirre, E. Estévez, J. Pérez and M. Marcos (2014), Model Driven Design Support for Mixed-Criticality Distributed Systems, *IFAC Proceedings Volumes*, **47**, 3, pp. 4441–4446, ISSN 1474-6670, doi:10.3182/20140824-6-ZA-1003.00585. http:

//www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1474667016422986

- Arrieta, A., G. Sagardui, L. Etxeberria and J. Zander (2017), Automatic generation of test system instances for configurable cyber-physical systems, *Software Quality Journal*, **25**, 3, pp. 1041–1083, ISSN 15731367, doi:10.1007/s11219-016-9341-7.
- Asensio, J. A., J. Criado, N. Padilla and L. Iribarne (2017), Emulating home automation installations through component-based web technology, *Future Generation Computer Systems*, ISSN 0167-739X, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.future.2017.09.062. https:

//www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0167739X17306088

- Attarzadeh-Niaki, S.-H. and I. Sander (2016), An extensible modeling methodology for embedded and cyber-physical system design, *Simulation*, **92**, 8, pp. 771–794, doi:10.1177/0037549716659753.
- Barišić, A. (2018), STSM Report: Systematic literature review on multi-paradigm modeling for CPS Systems, doi:10.5281/zenodo.1454531.

https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.1454531

- Barišić, A., D. Blouin, V. Amaral and M. Goulão (2017), A requirements engineering approach for usability-driven DSL development, *SLE 2017 - Proceedings of the 10th ACM SIGPLAN International ARTICLE on Software Language Engineering, co-located with SPLASH 2017*, pp. 115–128, doi:10.1145/3136014.3136027.
- Barišić, A. and J. Cunha (2017), Sustainability in Modelling of Cyber-Physical Systems: A Systematic Literature Review - Intermediate Technical Report, doi:10.5281/ZENODO.1481946. https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.1481946#.W-W6FHyJs_Y.mendeley
- Basile, D., S. Chiaradonna, F. D. Giandomenico and S. Gnesi (2016), A stochastic model-based approach to analyse reliable energy-saving rail road switch heating systems, *Journal of Rail Transport Planning & Management*, **6**, 2, pp. 163–181, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrtpm.2016.03.003.
- Basile, D., F. D. Giandomenico and S. Gnesi (2017), Model-Based Evaluation of Energy Saving Systems, *Green IT Engineering: Concepts, Models, Complex Systems Architectures*, 74, pp. 187–208, doi:10.1007/978-3-319-44162-7.

http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-319-44162-7

Baumgartner, N., S. Mitsch, A. Müller, W. Retschitzegger, A. Salfinger and W. Schwinger (2014), A tour of BeAware âĂŞ A situation awareness framework for control centers, *Information Fusion*, **20**, pp. 155–173, ISSN 15662535, doi:10.1016/j.inffus.2014.01.008. https:

//www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S156625351400013X

- van den Berg, F, A. Remke and B. R. Haverkort (2015), iDSL: Automated Performance
 Prediction and Analysis of Medical Imaging Systems, in Computer Performance Engineering,
 Springer, Cham, pp. 227–242, doi:10.1007/978-3-319-23267-6{_}15.
 http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-319-23267-6_15
- Bergmann, G., C. Debreceni, I. Ráth and D. Varr (2017), Towards efficient evaluation of rule-based permissions for fine-grained access control in collaborative modeling, *CEUR*



Workshop Proceedings, 2019, pp. 135–144.

Bernard, A. and R. Chenouard (2014), Multi-physics simulation for product-service performance assessment, *Procedia CIRP*, **16**, pp. 21–25, ISSN 22128271, doi:10.1016/j.procir.2014.03.002. https:

//www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2212827114000882

- Bigendako, B. M. and E. Syriani (2017), Automatically Installing and Deploying Tools for Conducting Systematic Reviews in ReLiS, Technical Report September. http://arxiv.org/abs/1705.01978
- Bliudze, S., S. Furic, J. Sifakis and A. Viel (2017), Rigorous design of cyber-physical systems: Linking physicality and computation, *Software and Systems Modeling*, pp. 1–24, ISSN 16191374, doi:10.1007/s10270-017-0642-5. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10270-017-0642-5
- Bloomfield, R. E., P. Popov, K. Salako, V. Stankovic and D. Wright (2017), Preliminary interdependency analysis: An approach to support critical-infrastructure risk-assessment, *Reliability Engineering & System Safety*, **167**, pp. 198–217, ISSN 0951-8320, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ress.2017.05.030.

https:

//www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0951832017305963

Brocanelli, M., S. Li, X. Wang and W. Zhang (2015), Maximizing the revenues of data centers in regulation market by coordinating with electric vehicles, in *Sustainable Computing: Informatics and Systems*, volume 6, Elsevier, volume 6, pp. 26–38, ISSN 22105379, doi:10.1016/j.suscom.2014.03.004. http:

//www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2210537914000158

- Broman, D., E. A. Lee, S. Tripakis and M. Törngren (2012), Viewpoints, Formalisms, Languages, and Tools for Cyber-physical Systems, in *Proceedings of the 6th International Workshop on Multi-Paradigm Modeling*, ACM, New York, NY, USA, MPM '12, pp. 49–54, doi:10.1145/2508443.2508452.
- Bujorianu, M. L. and N. Piterman (2015), A Modelling Framework for Cyber-Physical System Resilience, Springer, Cham, pp. 67–82, doi:10.1007/978-3-319-25141-7{_}6. http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-319-25141-7_6
- Burillo, D., M. V. Chester, B. Ruddell and N. Johnson (2017), Electricity demand planning forecasts should consider climate non-stationarity to maintain reserve margins during heat waves, *Applied Energy*, **206**, pp. 267–277, ISSN 0306-2619, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2017.08.141. https:

//www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0306261917311571

Calinescu, R. (2013), Emerging techniques for the engineering of self-adaptive high-integrity software, in *Lecture Notes in Computer Science (including subseries Lecture Notes in Artificial Intelligence and Lecture Notes in Bioinformatics)*, volume 7740 LNCS, Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, volume 7740 LNCS, pp. 297–310, ISBN 9783642362484, ISSN 03029743, doi:10.1007/978-3-642-36249-1{_}11.

http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-642-36249-1_11

Canadas, N., J. Machado, F. Soares, C. Barros and L. Varela (2018), Simulation of cyber physical systems behaviour using timed plant models, *Mechatronics*, **54**, pp. 175–185, ISSN 0957-4158, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mechatronics.2017.10.009.

https:

//www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0957415817301526



Canedo, A. and J. H. Richter (2014), Architectural Design Space Exploration of Cyber-physical Systems Using the Functional Modeling Compiler, *Procedia CIRP*, **21**, pp. 46–51, doi:10.1016/J.PROCIR.2014.03.183.

http:

//www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2212827114007495

- Caramihai, S. I. and I. Dumitrache (2013), Urban Traffic Monitoring and Control as a Cyber-Physical System Approach, in *Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing*, Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 355–366, doi:10.1007/978-3-642-32548-9{_}25. http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-642-32548-9_25
- Carnevali, L., M. Paolieri, F. Tarani, E. Vicario and K. Tadano (2014), Modeling and Evaluation of Maintenance Procedures for Gas Distribution Networks with Time-Dependent Parameters, in *Computer Safety, Reliability, and Security*, Springer, Cham, pp. 304–315, ISBN 978-3-319-10556-7, doi:10.1007/978-3-319-10557-4{_}34. http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-319-10557-4_34
- i Casas, P. and A. i Casas (2017), Using Specification and Description Language for Life Cycle Assessment in buildings, *Sustainability (Switzerland)*, **9**, 6, doi:10.3390/su9061004.
- Casella, F., A. G. Bartolini and A. Leva (2017), Equation-Based Object-Oriented modelling and simulation of large-scale Smart Grids with Modelica, *IFAC-PapersOnLine*, **50**, 1, pp. 5542–5547, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ifacol.2017.08.1096.
- Chaki, S. and J. Edmondson (2014), Model-Driven Verifying Compilation of Synchronous Distributed Applications, in *Lecture Notes in Computer Scienc*, volume 8767, Springer, Cham, pp. 201–217, ISBN 978-3-319-11652-5, doi:10.1007/978-3-319-11653-2{_}13. http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-319-11653-2_13
- Chiaradonna, S., F. Di Giandomenico and P. Lollini (2012), Case Study on Critical Infrastructures: Assessment of Electric Power Systems, in *Resilience Assessment and Evaluation of Computing Systems*, Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 365–390, ISBN 978-3-642-29031-2, doi:10.1007/978-3-642-29032-9{_}18. http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-642-29032-9_18
- Cho, T. S. (2017), A Proposal of Decentralised Architecture for Optimised Operations in Manufacturing Ecosystem Collaboration, in *Collaboration in a Data-Rich World*, volume 506, volume 506, pp. 128–137, ISBN 978-3-319-65150-7, doi:10.1007/978-3-319-65151-4. https://link.springer.com/chapter/10.1007/978-3-319-65151-4_12
- Ciccozzi, F., T. Seceleanu, D. Corcoran and D. Scholle (2016), UML-Based Development of Embedded Real-Time Software on Multi-Core in Practice: Lessons Learned and Future Perspectives, *IEEE Access*, **4**, pp. 6528–6540, doi:10.1109/ACCESS.2016.2604018.
- Cicirelli, F., G. Fortino, A. Guerrieri, G. Spezzano and A. Vinci (2017), Metamodeling of Smart Environments: from design to implementation, *Advanced Engineering Informatics*, **33**, pp. 274–284, ISSN 1474-0346, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aei.2016.11.005. https:

//www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1474034616302063

Cicirellia, F., G. Fortino, A. Guerrieri, G. Spezzano and A. Vinci (2017), Metamodeling of Smart Environments: from design to implementation, *Advanced Engineering Informatics*, **33**, pp. 274–284, doi:10.1016/J.AEI.2016.11.005. http:

//www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1474034616302063

Combaz, J., S. Bensalem, F. Tiezzi, A. Margheri, R. Pugliese and J. KofroÅĹ (2015), Correctness of Service Components and Service Component Ensembles, in *Software Engineering for Collective Autonomic Systems.*, volume 8998, Springer, Cham, pp. 107–159, ISBN



978-3-319-16309-3, doi:10.1007/978-3-319-16310-9{_}3. http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-319-16310-9_3

- Dang, D. H. and M. Gogolla (2009), Precise Model-Driven Transformations Based on Graphs and Metamodels, in 2009 Seventh IEEE International Conference on Software Engineering and Formal Methods, Hanoi, Vietnam, pp. 307–316, doi:10.1109/SEFM.2009.9.
- Dávid, I. (2016), A multi-paradigm modeling foundation for collaborative multi-view model/system development, in *CEUR Workshop Proceedings*, volume 1775, SRC@MoDELS, volume 1775.
- Dávid, I., I. Ráth and D. Varró (2018), Foundations for Streaming Model Transformations by Complex Event Processing, *Software & Systems Modeling*, **17**, 1, pp. 135–162, ISSN 1619-1366, doi:10.1007/s10270-016-0533-1.

http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s10270-016-0533-1

- Dávid, I., E. Syriani, C. Verbrugge, D. Buchs, D. Blouin, A. Cicchetti and K. Vanherpen (2016), Towards inconsistency tolerance by quantification of semantic inconsistencies, in *CEUR Workshop Proceedings*, volume 1717, COMMitMDE@MoDELS, volume 1717, pp. 35–44.
- Dayal, A., Y. Deng and S. K. Shukla (2015), Design of cyber security for critical infrastructures: A case for a schizoid design approach, in *SPACE 2015: Security, Privacy, and Applied Cryptography Engineering*, volume 9354, Springer, Cham, volume 9354, pp. 41–54, ISBN 9783319241258, ISSN 16113349, doi:10.1007/978-3-319-24126-5{_}3. http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-319-24126-5_3
- Delicato, F. C., P. F. Pires and T. Batista (2017), The Activity of Resource Modelling, in *Resource Management for Internet of Things*, chapter 3, pp. 19–32, ISBN 978-3-319-54246-1, doi:10.1007/978-3-319-54247-8.

http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-319-54247-8

- Denil, J., P. De Meulenaere, S. Demeyer and H. Vangheluwe (2017), DEVS for AUTOSAR-based system deployment modeling and simulation, *Simulation*, **93**, 6, pp. 489–513, doi:10.1177/0037549716684552.
- Derler, P., E. A. Lee and A. Sangiovanni Vincentelli (2012a), Modeling cyber-physical systems, *Proceedings of the IEEE*, **100**, 1, pp. 13–28, ISSN 00189219, doi:10.1109/JPROC.2011.2160929.
- Derler, P., E. A. Lee and A. Sangiovanni Vincentelli (2012b), Modeling cyber-physical systems, *Proceedings of the IEEE*, **100**, 1, pp. 13–28, ISSN 00189219, doi:10.1109/JPROC.2011.2160929.
- Di Alesio, S. and S. Sen (2017), Using UML/MARTE to support performance tuning and stress testing in real-time systems, *Software & Systems Modeling*, **17**, 2, pp. 479–508, ISSN 1619-1366, doi:10.1007/s10270-017-0585-x.

http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s10270-017-0585-x

- Dillon, T., E. Chang, J. Singh and O. Hussain (2012), Semantics of Cyber-Physical Systems, in *Intelligent Information Processing*, volume 385, Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 3–12, doi:10.1007/978-3-642-32891-6{_}3. http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-642-32891-6_3
- Drago, A., S. Marrone, N. Mazzocca, R. Nardone, A. Tedesco and V. Vittorini (2016), A model-driven approach for vulnerability evaluation of modern physical protection systems, doi:10.1007/s10270-016-0572-7.

http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s10270-016-0572-7

Dragule, S., B. Meyers and P. Pelliccione (2017), A generated property specification language for resilient multirobot missions, *Lecture Notes in Computer Science (including subseries Lecture Notes in Artificial Intelligence and Lecture Notes in Bioinformatics)*, **10479 LNCS**, pp. 45–61, ISSN 16113349, doi:10.1007/978-3-319-65948-0{_}4.



Dubois, E. and K. Pohl (2017), Multi-party Business Process Resilience By-Design: A
Data-Centric Perspective, Lecture Notes in Computer Science (including subseries Lecture
Notes in Artificial Intelligence and Lecture Notes in Bioinformatics), 10253 LNCS, pp. V–VI,
ISSN 16113349, doi:10.1007/978-3-319-59536-8.

http://link.springer.com/chapter/10.1007/978-3-319-59536-8_8

- Durak, U., T. Pawletta, H. Oguztuzun and B. P. Zeigler (2017), System entity structure and model base framework in model based engineering of simulations for technical systems, *Simulation Series*, **49**, 7, pp. 1–10.
- Eusgeld, I., C. Nan and S. Dietz (2011), âĂIJSystem-of-systemsâĂİ approach for interdependent critical infrastructures, *Reliability Engineering & System Safety*, **96**, 6, pp. 679–686, ISSN 0951-8320, doi:10.1016/J.RESS.2010.12.010. http:

//www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0951832010002668

- Excoffon, W., J.-c. Fabre and M. Lauer (2016), Towards Modelling Adaptive Fault Tolerance for Resilient Computing Analysis, *International Conference on Computer Safety, Reliability, and Security*, 9923, April, doi:10.1007/978-3-319-45480-1. http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-319-45480-1
- de Farias, C. M., I. C. Brito, L. Pirmez, F. C. Delicato, P. F. Pires, T. C. Rodrigues, I. L. dos Santos, L. F. R. C. Carmo and T. Batista (2017), COMFIT: A development environment for the Internet of Things, *Future Generation Computer Systems*, **75**, pp. 128–144, ISSN 0167-739X, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.future.2016.06.031. https:

//www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0167739X16302163

Faschang, M., F. Judex and A. Schuster (2016), Functional view of a smart city architecture: the SCDA greenfield approach, in 2016 Workshop on Modeling and Simulation of Cyber-Physical Energy Systems (MSCPES), IEEE, pp. 1–6, ISBN 978-1-5090-1158-2, doi:10.1109/MSCPES.2016.7480219.

http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/lpdocs/epic03/wrapper.htm?arnumber=
7480219

Favre, J.-M. (2005), Megamodelling and Etymology, , January 2005.

- Fernández-Isabel, A. and R. Fuentes-Fernández (2016), Model-driven engineering of simulations for smart roads, *CEUR Workshop Proceedings*, **1678**.
- Fitzgerald, J., C. Gamble, P. G. Larsen, K. Pierce and J. Woodcock (2015), Cyber-Physical Systems Design: Formal Foundations, Methods and Integrated Tool Chains, in *2015 IEEE/ACM 3rd FME Workshop on Formal Methods in Software Engineering*, pp. 40–46, doi:10.1109/FormaliSE.2015.14.
- Fitzgerald, J., K. Pierce and P. G. Larsen (2014), Co-modelling and co-simulation in the engineering of systems of cyber-physical systems, in *2014 9th International Conference on System of Systems Engineering (SOSE)*, pp. 67–72, doi:10.1109/SYSOSE.2014.6892465.
- Francalanza, E., J. Borg and C. Constantinescu (2017), A knowledge-based tool for designing cyber physical production systems, *Computers in Industry*, **84**, pp. 39–58, doi:10.1016/J.COMPIND.2016.08.001. http:

//www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0166361516301373

Franchin, P. and F. Cavalieri (2013), Seismic vulnerability analysis of a complex interconnected civil infrastructure, Handbook of Seismic Risk Analysis and Management of Civil Infrastructure Systems, pp. 465–514, doi:10.1533/9780857098986.4.465. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/



B9780857092687500189

- Frtunikj, J., V. Rupanov, M. Armbruster and A. Knoll (2014), Adaptive Error and Sensor Management for Autonomous Vehicles: Model-based Approach and Run-time System, *Model-Based Safety and Assessment*, doi:10.1007/978-3-319-12214-4{_}13. https://mediatum.ub.tum.de/doc/1281560/1281560.pdf
- Garcia, H. E., T. L. Burr, G. A. Coles, T. A. Edmunds, A. J. Garrett, M. B. Gorensek, L. L. Hamm, J. F. Krebs, R. L. Kress, V. E. Lamberti, D. A. Schoenwald, C. P. Tzanos and R. C. Ward (2012), Integration of facility modeling capabilities for nuclear nonproliferation analysis, *Progress in Nuclear Energy*, **54**, 1, pp. 96–111, ISSN 01491970, doi:10.1016/j.pnucene.2011.07.007. http:

//www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0149197011001570

- Gauthier, J.-M., F. Bouquet, A. Hammad and F. Peureux (2015), A SysML Formal Framework to Combine Discrete and Continuous Simulation for Testing, *Formal Methods and Software Engineering*, pp. 134–152, doi:10.1007/978-3-319-25423-4{_}9. http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-319-25423-4_9
- Gerostathopoulos, I., T. Bures, P. Hnetynka, J. Keznikl, M. Kit, F. Plasil and N. Plouzeau (2016), Self-adaptation in software-intensive cyber\endashphysical systems: From system goals to architecture configurations, *Journal of Systems and Software*, **122**, pp. 378–397, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jss.2016.02.028.
- Giese, H. and W. Schäfer (2013), Model-Driven Development of Safe Self-optimizing Mechatronic Systems with MechatronicUML, Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 152–186, doi:10.1007/978-3-642-36249-1{_}6.

http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-642-36249-1_6

Giles, K. and K. Giammarco (2017), Mission-based Architecture for Swarm Composability (MASC), *Procedia Computer Science*, **114**, pp. 57–64, ISSN 1877-0509, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procs.2017.09.005. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procs.2017.09.005.

//www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1877050917317994

Gonçalves, F. S., G. V. Raffo and L. B. Becker (2016), Managing CPS Complexity: Design Method for Unmanned Aerial Vehicles, *IFAC-PapersOnLine*, **49**, 32, pp. 141–146, ISSN 2405-8963, doi:10.1016/J.IFACOL.2016.12.204.

http:

//www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2405896316328762

Goulão, M., P. Carreira, V. Amaral, A. Zabašta, O. ÅĚikiforova and D. Savić (2016a), COST IC1404 WG4 Y1 and Y2 Technical Report WG4.3 CPS profile - Pilot Assessment, doi:10.5281/ZENODO.223900.

https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.223900#.XAgqdSn29N0.mendeley

- Goulão, M., P. Carreira, V. Amaral, A. Zabašta, O. ÅĚikiforova and D. Savić (2016b), Y1 and Y2 Technical Report WG4 . 3 CPS profile - Pilot Assessment, Technical report, ICT COST Action IC1404 Multi-ParadigmModelling for Cyber-Physical Systems (MPM4CPS).
- Gräßler, I., A. Pöhler and J. Hentze (2017), Decoupling of Product and Production Development in Flexible Production Environments, *Procedia CIRP*, **60**, pp. 548–553, ISSN 2212-8271, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procir.2017.01.040. https:

//www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2212827117300410

Greenyer, J., C. Hansen, J. Kotlarski and T. Ortmaier (2014), Towards Synthesizing Energy-efficient Controllers for Modern Production Systems from Scenario-based Specifications, *Procedia Technology*, **15**, pp. 388–397, ISSN 2212-0173,



doi:10.1016/J.PROTCY.2014.09.093.

http:

//www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2212017314002084

- Gribaudo, M. and A. Remke (2016), Hybrid Petri nets with general one-shot transitions, *Performance Evaluation*, **105**, pp. 22–50, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.peva.2016.09.002.
- Grüttner, K., R. Görgen, S. Schreiner, F. Herrera, P. Peñil, J. Medina, E. Villar, G. Palermo,
 W. Fornaciari, C. Brandolese, D. Gadioli, E. Vitali, D. Zoni, S. Bocchio, L. Ceva, P. Azzoni,
 M. Poncino, S. Vinco, E. Macii, S. Cusenza, J. Favaro, R. Valencia, I. Sander, K. Rosvall,
 N. Khalilzad and D. Quaglia (2017), CONTREX: Design of embedded mixed-criticality
 CONTRol systems under consideration of EXtra-functional properties, *Microprocessors and Microsystems*, **51**, pp. 39–55, ISSN 0141-9331,

doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micpro.2017.03.012.

```
https:
```

//www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0141933117300029

- Gunes, V., S. Peter and T. Givargis (2015), Improving Energy Efficiency and Thermal Comfort of Smart Buildings with HVAC Systems in the Presence of Sensor Faults, in 2015 IEEE 17th International Conference on High Performance Computing and Communications, 2015 IEEE 7th International Symposium on Cyberspace Safety and Security, and 2015 IEEE 12th International Conference on Embedded Software and Systems, IEEE, pp. 945–950, ISBN 978-1-4799-8937-9, doi:10.1109/HPCC-CSS-ICESS.2015.154. http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/7336292/
- Gunes, V., S. Peter, T. Givargis and F. Vahid (2014), A Survey on Concepts, Applications, and Challenges in Cyber-Physical Systems, *THS*, doi:10.3837/tiis.0000.000.
- Hackenberg, G., M. Gleirscher, T. Stocker, C. Richter and G. Reinhart (2016), MaCon: Consistent Cross-Disciplinary Conception of Manufacturing Systems, *IFAC-PapersOnLine*, 49, 12, pp. 1175–1180, ISSN 2405-8963, doi:10.1016/J.IFACOL.2016.07.665. http:

//www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2405896316309417

- von Hanxleden, R., E. A. Lee, C. Motika and H. Fuhrmann (2012), Multi-view Modeling and Pragmatics in 2020, Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 209–223, doi:10.1007/978-3-642-34059-8{_}11. http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-642-34059-8_11
- Hartmann, T., F. Fouquet, J. Klein, G. Nain and Y. Le Traon (2014), Reactive Security for Smart Grids Using Models@run.time-Based Simulation and Reasoning, in *Smart Grid Security*, Springer, Cham, pp. 139–153, doi:10.1007/978-3-319-10329-7{_}9. http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-319-10329-7_9
- Hecht, M. (2016), A Model Based Systems Engineering Approach to Resiliency Analysis of a Cyberphysical System, in *2016 IEEE International Symposium on Software Reliability Engineering Workshops (ISSREW)*, IEEE, pp. 25–28, ISBN 978-1-5090-3601-1, doi:10.1109/ISSREW.2016.51.

http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/7789371/

Hehenberger, P., B. Vogel-Heuser, D. Bradley, B. Eynard, T. Tomiyama and S. Achiche (2016), Design, modelling, simulation and integration of cyber physical systems: Methods and applications, *Computers in Industry*, **82**, pp. 273–289, doi:10.1016/J.COMPIND.2016.05.006. http:

//www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0166361516300902

Heinze, H., K. Kallow, H. Lackner, S. Sadeghipour, H. Schlingloff, S. Tahirbegovic and H.-W. Wiesbrock (2012), Application and Evaluation in the Healthcare Domain, in *Model-Based Engineering of Embedded Systems*, Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp.



215-230, doi:10.1007/978-3-642-34614-9{_}15. http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-642-34614-9_15

Heinzemann, C., S. Becker and A. Volk (2017), Transactional execution of hierarchical reconfigurations in cyber-physical systems, *Software & Systems Modeling*, pp. 1–33, ISSN 1619-1366, doi:10.1007/s10270-017-0583-z.

http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s10270-017-0583-z

- Herrera, F., P. Penil and E. Villar (2015), Enhancing analysability and time predictability in UML/MARTE component-based application models, in *2015 Forum on Specification and Design Languages (FDL)*, pp. 1–8.
- Herrmann, P. and J. O. Blech (2016), Formal model-based development in industrial automation with reactive blocks, in *STAF 2016: Software Technologies: Applications and Foundations*, volume 9946 LNCS, Springer, Cham, volume 9946 LNCS, pp. 253–261, ISBN 9783319502298, ISSN 16113349, doi:10.1007/978-3-319-50230-4{_}19.

http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-319-50230-4_19

Hoffmann, M., Meisen Tobias and S. Jeschke (2017), OPC UA Based ERP Agents: Enabling Scalable Communication Solutions in Heterogeneous Automation Environments, *Lecture Notes in Artificial Intelligence - Advances in Practical Applications of Cyber-Physical Multi-Agent Systems: The PAAMS Collection*, 10349, pp. 120–131, doi:10.1007/978-3-319-59930-4.

http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-319-59930-4

Holden, R., D. V. Val, R. Burkhard and S. Nodwell (2013), A network flow model for interdependent infrastructures at the local scale, *Safety Science*, **53**, pp. 51–60, ISSN 0925-7535, doi:10.1016/J.SSCI.2012.08.013. http:

//www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0925753512002172

Hu, J., A. Saleem, S. You, L. Nordström, M. Lind and J. Østergaard (2015), A multi-agent system for distribution grid congestion management with electric vehicles, *Engineering Applications of Artificial Intelligence*, **38**, pp. 45–58, ISSN 0952-1976, doi:10.1016/J.ENGAPPAI.2014.10.017.
http:

//www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0952197614002577

Huang, J., S. Barner, A. Raabe, C. Buckl and A. Knoll (2014), A framework for reliability-aware embedded system design on multiprocessor platforms, *Microprocessors and Microsystems*, 38, 6, pp. 539–551, ISSN 0141-9331, doi:10.1016/J.MICPRO.2014.02.007. http:

//www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S014193311400026X

- Jiang, Z., M. Pajic, R. Alur and R. Mangharam (2014), Closed-loop verification of medical devices with model abstraction and refinement, *International Journal on Software Tools for Technology Transfer*, 16, 2, pp. 191–213, ISSN 1433-2779, doi:10.1007/s10009-013-0289-7. http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s10009-013-0289-7
- Juhász, D., L. Domoszlai and B. Králik (2015), Rea: Workflows for cyber-physical systems, Lecture Notes in Computer Science (including subseries Lecture Notes in Artificial Intelligence and Lecture Notes in Bioinformatics), **8606**, pp. 479–506, doi:10.1007/978-3-319-15940-9{_}14.
- Kacem, M. A. H., Z. Simeu-Abazi, E. Gascard, G. Lemasson and J. Maisonnasse (2017), Application of a modeling approach on a cyber-physical system "RobAIR", *IFAC-PapersOnLine*, **50**, 1, pp. 14230–14235, ISSN 2405-8963, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ifacol.2017.08.2099. https:



//www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2405896317327593

Khan, Z., Z. Pervez and A. G. Abbasi (2017), Towards a secure service provisioning framework in a Smart city environment, *Future Generation Computer Systems*, **77**, pp. 112–135, ISSN 0167-739X, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.future.2017.06.031. https:

//www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0167739X17313687

- King, A. L., L. Feng, O. Sokolsky and I. Lee (2014), A Modal Specification Approach for On-Demand Medical Systems, in *Foundations of Health Information Engineering and Systems*, Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 199–216, doi:10.1007/978-3-642-53956-5{_}14. http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-642-53956-5_14
- Kitchenham, B. (2007), Guidelines for performing Systematic Literature Reviews in Software Engineering, Technical Report EBSE 2007-001, Keele University and Durham University Joint Report.
- Kokolaki, E., M. Karaliopoulos and I. Stavrakakis (2014), On the Efficiency of Information-Assisted Search for Parking Space: A Game-Theoretic Approach, Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 54–65, doi:10.1007/978-3-642-54140-7{_}5. http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-642-54140-7_5
- Kühne, T. (2006), Matters of (meta-) modeling, *Software and Systems Modeling*, **5**, 4, pp. 369–385, ISSN 16191366, doi:10.1007/s10270-006-0017-9.
- Kusmenko, E., A. Roth, B. Rumpe and M. von Wenckstern (2017), Modeling architectures of cyber-physical systems, in *ECMFA 2017: Modelling Foundations and Applications*, volume 10376 LNCS, Springer, Cham, pp. 34–50, ISBN 9783319614816, doi:10.1007/978-3-319-61482-3{_}3. http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-319-61482-3_3
- Latombe, F., X. Crégut, B. Combemale, J. Deantoni and M. Pantel (2015), Weaving concurrency in executable domain-specific modeling languages, *SLE 2015 - Proceedings of the 2015 ACM SIGPLAN International ARTICLE on Software Language Engineering*, pp. 125–136, doi:10.1145/2814251.2814261.
- Lee, E. A. (2015), The past, present and future of cyber-physical systems: a focus on models., Sensors (Basel, Switzerland), 15, 3, pp. 4837–69, ISSN 1424-8220, doi:10.3390/s150304837. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25730486http: //www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=PMC4435108
- Legat, C. and B. Vogel-Heuser (2017), A configurable partial-order planning approach for field level operation strategies of PLC-based industry 4.0 automated manufacturing systems, *Engineering Applications of Artificial Intelligence*, **66**, pp. 128–144, ISSN 0952-1976, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.engappai.2017.06.014. https:

//www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0952197617301331

Lerm, R., D. Doering and C. E. Pereira (2015), Design-Space Exploration Tool for the HIPAO Methodology, *IFAC-PapersOnLine*, **48**, 10, pp. 93–98, ISSN 2405-8963, doi:10.1016/J.IFACOL.2015.08.114. http:

//www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2405896315009817

Leung, M.-K., T. Mandl, E. Lee, E. Latronico, C. Shelton, S. Tripakis and B. Lickly (2009), Scalable Semantic Annotation Using Lattice-Based Ontologies, in *Model Driven Engineering Languages and Systems SE - 31*, volume 5795 of *Lecture Notes in Computer Science*, Eds.
A. Schürr and B. Selic, Springer Berlin Heidelberg, pp. 393–407, doi:10.1007/978-3-642-04425-0{_}31.



- Lickly, B., C. Shelton, E. Latronico and E. A. Lee (2011), A practical ontology framework for static model analysis, in *2011 Proceedings of the Ninth ACM International Conference on Embedded Software (EMSOFT)*, pp. 23–32, doi:10.1145/2038642.2038648.
- Lin, C. L., W. Shen and S. Drager (2016), Justifying the transition from trustworthiness to resiliency via generation of safety cases, in *Software Engineering, Artificial Intelligence, Networking and Parallel/Distributed Computing. Studies in Computational Intelligence,* volume 653, Springer, Cham, volume 653, pp. 57–73, ISBN 9783319338095, ISSN 1860949X, doi:10.1007/978-3-319-33810-1{_}5.

http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-319-33810-1_5

Liu, C., F. Chen, J. Zhu, Z. Zhang, C. Zhang and C. Zhao (2017), Characteristic, Architecture, Technology, and Design Methodology of Cyber-Physical Systems, *International Conference on Industrial IoT Technologies and Applications*, **202**, pp. 230–246, doi:10.1007/978-3-319-60753-5.

http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-319-60753-5

- Liu, J., Z. Liu, J. He, F. Mallet and Z. Ding (2013), Hybrid MARTE statecharts, *Frontiers of Computer Science*, **7**, 1, pp. 95–108, ISSN 20952228, doi:10.1007/s11704-012-1301-1. http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s11704-012-1301-1
- Lollini, P., M. Mori, A. Babu and S. Bouchenak (2016), AMADEOS SysML Profile for SoS Conceptual Modeling, Cyber-Physical Systems of Systems, pp. 97–127, doi:10.1007/978-3-319-47590-5{_}4. http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-319-47590-5_4
- Lun, Y. Z., A. D'Innocenzo, I. Malavolta and M. D. Di Benedetto (2016), Cyber-Physical Systems Security: a Systematic Mapping Study, pp. 1–32. http://arxiv.org/abs/1605.09641
- Magureanu, G., M. Gavrilescu and D. Pescaru (2013), Validation of static properties in unified modeling language models for cyber physical systems, *Journal of Zhejiang University SCIENCE C*, 14, 5, pp. 332–346, ISSN 1869-1951, doi:10.1631/jzus.C1200263. http://link.springer.com/10.1631/jzus.C1200263
- Mallet, F. (2015), MARTE/CCSL for modeling cyber-physical systems, in *Formal Modeling and Verification of Cyber-Physical Systems: 1st International Summer School on Methods and Tools for the Design of Digital Systems, Bremen, Germany, September 2015*, Springer Fachmedien Wiesbaden, Wiesbaden, pp. 26–49, ISBN 9783658099947, doi:10.1007/978-3-658-09994-7{_}2.

http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-658-09994-7_2

- Mallet, F., E. Villar and F. Herrera (2017), MARTE for CPS and CPSoS: Present and future, methodology and tools, in *Cyber-Physical System Design from an Architecture Analysis Viewpoint: Communications of NII Shonan Meetings*, Springer Singapore, Singapore, pp. 81–108, ISBN 9789811044366, doi:10.1007/978-981-10-4436-6{_}4. http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-981-10-4436-6_4
- Marrone, S. and U. Gentile (2016), Finding Resilient and Energy-saving Control Strategies in Smart Homes, *Procedia Computer Science*, **83**, pp. 976–981, ISSN 1877-0509, doi:10.1016/J.PROCS.2016.04.195. http:

//www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1877050916302289

Marshall, C. and P. Brereton (2013), Tools to support systematic literature reviews in software engineering: A mapping study, *International Symposium on Empirical Software Engineering and Measurement*, pp. 296–299, ISSN 19493770, doi:10.1109/ESEM.2013.32.



Mazzolini, M., F. A. Cavadini, G. Montalbano and A. Forni (2017), Structured Approach to the Design of Automation Systems through IEC 61499 Standard, *Procedia Manufacturing*, **11**, pp. 905–913, ISSN 2351-9789, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.promfg.2017.07.194. https:

//www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S235197891730402X

- Mertins, K., T. Knothe and P. Gocev (2012), Towards CPS Based Aircraft MRO, Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 166–173, doi:10.1007/978-3-642-32775-9{_}17. http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-642-32775-9_17
- Méry, D. and N. K. Singh (2013), Closed-Loop Modeling of Cardiac Pacemaker and Heart, Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 151–166, doi:10.1007/978-3-642-39088-3{_}10. http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-642-39088-3_10
- Montecchi, L., P. Lollini, A. Bondavalli and E. La Mattina (2012), Quantitative Security Evaluation of a Multi-biometric Authentication System, *Computer Safety, Reliability, and Security*, doi:10.1007/978-3-642-33675-1{_}19.
- Moyano, F., C. Fernandez-Gago, B. Baudry and J. Lopez (2014), Engineering Trust-Awareness and Self-adaptability in Services and Systems, Springer, Cham, pp. 180–209, doi:10.1007/978-3-319-07452-8{_}8. http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-319-07452-8_8
- Murguzur, A., H.-L. Truong and S. Dustdar (2013), Multi-perspective Process Variability: A Case for Smart Green Buildings (Short Paper), in *2013 IEEE 6th International Conference on Service-Oriented Computing and Applications*, IEEE, pp. 25–29, ISBN 978-1-4799-2702-9, doi:10.1109/SOCA.2013.40.

http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/6717280/

Myers, T. and I. Atkinson (2013), Eco-informatics modelling via semantic inference, *Information Systems*, **38**, 1, pp. 16–32, ISSN 0306-4379, doi:10.1016/J.IS.2012.04.001. http:

//www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0306437912000531

Nam, M. Y., J. Delange and P. Feiler (2016), Integrated modeling workflow for security assurance, in *Lecture Notes in Computer Science (Leveraging Applications of Formal Methods, Verification and Validation: Foundational Techniques - ISoLA 2016)*, volume 9952, Eds. T. Margaria and B. Steffen, Springer, Cham, pp. 926–941, ISBN 9783319471655, doi:10.1007/978-3-319-47166-2{_}64.

http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-319-47166-2_64

- Neema, H., J. Sztipanovits, M. Burns and E. Griffor (2016), C2WT-TE: A model-based open platform for integrated simulations of transactive smart grids, in 2016 Workshop on Modeling and Simulation of Cyber-Physical Energy Systems (MSCPES), IEEE, Vienna, Austria, pp. 1–6, ISBN 978-1-5090-1158-2, doi:10.1109/MSCPES.2016.7480218. http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/lpdocs/epic03/wrapper.htm?arnumber= 7480218
- Neisse, R., G. Steri, I. N. Fovino and G. Baldini (2015), SecKit: A Model-based Security Toolkit for the Internet of Things, *Computers & Security*, **54**, pp. 60–76, ISSN 0167-4048, doi:10.1016/J.COSE.2015.06.002. http:

//www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0167404815000887

Nejati, S., S. Di Alesio, M. Sabetzadeh and L. Briand (2012), Modeling and Analysis of CPU Usage in Safety-Critical Embedded Systems to Support Stress Testing, in *Lecture Notes in Computer Science (Model Driven Engineering Languages and Systems - MODELS 2012)*, volume 7590, Ed. B. R. A. C. France R.B., Kazmeier J., Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 759–775, doi:10.1007/978-3-642-33666-9{_}48.



http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-642-33666-9_48

Ni, Y. and J. F. Broenink (2014), A co-modelling method for solving incompatibilities during co-design of mechatronic devices, *Advanced Engineering Informatics*, **28**, 3, pp. 232–240, ISSN 1474-0346, doi:10.1016/J.AEI.2014.05.004.

http:

//www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S147403461400038X

Novák, P., F. J. Ekaputra and S. Biffl (2017), Generation of Simulation Models in MATLAB-Simulink Based on AutomationML Plant Description, *IFAC-PapersOnLine*, **50**, 1, pp. 7613–7620, ISSN 2405-8963, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ifacol.2017.08.1027. https:

//www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2405896317315082

Pazzi, L. and M. Pellicciari (2017), From the Internet of Things to Cyber-Physical Systems: The Holonic Perspective, *Procedia Manufacturing*, **11**, pp. 989–995, ISSN 2351-9789, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.promfg.2017.07.204. https:

//www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2351978917304122

- Pournaras, E., M. Yao, R. Ambrosio and M. Warnier (2013), Organizational Control Reconfigurations for a Robust Smart Power Grid, in *Studies in Computational Intelligence* (*Internet of Things and Inter-cooperative Computational Technologies for Collective Intelligence*), volume 460, Ed. V. D. H. R. L. M. Bessis N., Xhafa F., Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 189–206, doi:10.1007/978-3-642-34952-2{_}8. http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-642-34952-2_8
- Premm, M. and S. Kirn (2015), A Multiagent Systems Perspective on Industry 4.0 Supply Networks, in *Lecture Notes in Computer Science (Multiagent System Technologies - MATES 2015)*, volume 9433, Eds. J. Müller, W. Ketter, G. Kaminka, G. Wagner and N. Bulling, Springer, Cham, pp. 101–118, doi:10.1007/978-3-319-27343-3{_}6. http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-319-27343-3_6
- Ribeiro, P., A. Miyazawa, W. Li, A. Cavalcanti and J. Timmis (2017), Modelling and Verification of Timed Robotic Controllers, in *Lecture Notes in Computer Science (International Conference on Integrated Formal Methods)*, volume 5423, Eds. M. Wehrheim and H. Leuschel, Düsseldorf, Germany, pp. 18–33, ISBN 978-3-642-00254-0, doi:10.1007/978-3-642-00255-7.

http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-642-00255-7

Rovers, K. C. and J. Kuper (2013), UniTi: Unified composition and time for multi-domain model-based design, *International Journal of Parallel Programming*, **41**, 2, pp. 261–304, ISSN 08857458, doi:10.1007/s10766-012-0226-5.

http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s10766-012-0226-5

Ruiz, A., B. Gallina, J. L. de la Vara, S. Mazzini and H. Espinoza (2016), Architecture-driven, Multi-concern and Seamless Assurance and Certification of Cyber-Physical Systems, in *Lecture Notes in Computer Science (Computer Safety, Reliability, and Security - SAFECOMP* 2016), volume 9923, Ed. S. E. B. F. Skavhaug A., Guiochet J., Springer, Cham, pp. 311–321, doi:10.1007/978-3-319-45480-1{_}25.

http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-319-45480-1_25

- Savic, D. (2015), Definition of the profile of a MPM4CPS course and a systematic literature review on modeling for CPS, Technical report, EU COST Action. http://mpm4cps.eu/STSM/reports/material/D.Savic_ ReportCOST-STSM-IC1404-30528.pdf
- Seiger, R., S. Huber, P. Heisig and U. Aßmann (2017), Toward a framework for self-adaptive workflows in cyber-physical systems, *Software and Systems Modeling*, November, pp. 1–18,


ISSN 16191374, doi:10.1007/s10270-017-0639-0.

http://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10270-017-0639-0

Seiger, R., C. Keller, F. Niebling and T. Schlegel (2015), Modelling complex and flexible processes for smart cyber-physical environments, *Journal of Computational Science*, **10**, pp. 137–148, doi:10.1016/J.JOCS.2014.07.001. http:

//www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1877750314000970

Sharaf, M., M. Abughazala, H. Muccini and M. Abusair (2017), An Architecture Framework for Modelling and Simulation of Situational-Aware Cyber-Physical Systems, in *Lecture Notes in Computer Science (The European Conference on Software Architecture - ECSA 2017)*, volume 10475, Eds. A. Lopes and R. de Lemos, ISBN 978-3-319-65830-8, doi:10.1007/978-3-319-65831-5.

http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-319-65831-5

- Shuja, J., K. Bilal, S. A. Madani and S. U. Khan (2014), Data center energy efficient resource scheduling, *Cluster Computing*, **17**, 4, pp. 1265–1277, ISSN 1386-7857, doi:10.1007/s10586-014-0365-0. http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s10586-014-0365-0
- Simko, G., D. Lindecker, T. Levendovszky, S. Neema and J. Sztipanovits (2013), Specification of Cyber-Physical Components with Formal Semantics - Integration and Composition, in *Lecture Notes in Computer Science*, volume 8107, Ed. G. J. V. A. C. P. Moreira A., Schätz B., Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 471–487, doi:10.1007/978-3-642-41533-3{_}29. http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-642-41533-3_29
- Sobottka, T., F. Kamhuber and W. Sihn (2017), Increasing Energy Efficiency in Production Environments Through an Optimized, Hybrid Simulation-based Planning of Production and Its Periphery, *Procedia CIRP*, **61**, pp. 440–445, ISSN 2212-8271, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procir.2016.11.151. https:

//www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2212827116313117

- Son, H. S., W. Y. Kim, R. Y. Kim and H.-G. Min (2012), Metamodel Design for Model Transformation from Simulink to ECML in Cyber Physical Systems, in *Communications in Computer and Information Science (Computer Applications for Graphics, Grid Computing, and Industrial Environment - CGAG 2012)*, volume 351, Ed. G. O. Y. S. Kim T., Cho H., Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 56–60, doi:10.1007/978-3-642-35600-1{_}8. http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-642-35600-1_8
- Stiel, F., T. Michel and F. Teuteberg (2016), Enhancing manufacturing and transportation decision support systems with LCA add-ins, *Journal of Cleaner Production*, **110**, pp. 85–98, ISSN 0959-6526, doi:10.1016/J.JCLEPRO.2015.07.140. http:

//www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0959652615010719

- Sztipanovits, J., T. Bapty, Z. Lattmann and S. Neema (2017), Composition and Compositionality in CPS, in Handbook of System Safety and Security, Syngress, Boston, chapter Chapter 2, pp. 15–38, ISBN 9780128037737, doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-803773-7.00002-4. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ B9780128037737000024
- Sztipanovits, J., T. Bapty, S. Neema, L. Howard and E. Jackson (2014), OpenMETA: A Modeland Component-Based Design Tool Chain for Cyber-Physical Systems, in *Lecture Notes in Computer Science*, volume 8415, Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 235–248, doi:10.1007/978-3-642-54848-2{_}16.



http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-642-54848-2_16

Tao, M., K. Ota and M. Dong (2017), Ontology-based data semantic management and application in IoT- and cloud-enabled smart homes, *Future Generation Computer Systems*, **76**, pp. 528–539, ISSN 0167-739X, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.future.2016.11.012. https:

//www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0167739X1630615X

- Tendeloo, Y. V. and H. Vangheluwe (2017), The Modelverse: A tool for Multi-Paradigm Modelling and simulation, in *2017 Winter Simulation Conference (WSC)*, Las Vegas, NV, USA, pp. 944–955, doi:10.1109/WSC.2017.8247845.
- Thramboulidis, K. and F. Christoulakis (2016), UML4IoT-A UML-based approach to exploit IoT in cyber-physical manufacturing systems, *Computers in Industry*, **82**, pp. 259–272, doi:10.1016/J.COMPIND.2016.05.010. http:

//www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S016636151630094X

- Tomašević, N. M., M. Ä. Batić, L. M. Blanes, M. M. Keane and S. Vraneš (2015), Ontology-based facility data model for energy management, *Advanced Engineering Informatics*, **29**, 4, pp. 971–984, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aei.2015.09.003.
- Törngren, M., A. Qamar, M. Biehl, F. Loiret and J. El-Khoury (2014), Integrating viewpoints in the development of mechatronic products, *Mechatronics*, **24**, 7, pp. 745–762, doi:10.1016/j.mechatronics.2013.11.013.
- Tóth, G., B. van der Holst, I. V. Sokolov, D. L. De Zeeuw, T. I. Gombosi, F. Fang, W. B. Manchester, X. Meng, D. Najib, K. G. Powell, Q. F. Stout, A. Glocer, Y.-J. Ma and M. Opher (2012), Adaptive numerical algorithms in space weather modeling, *Journal of Computational Physics*, 231, 3, pp. 870–903, ISSN 0021-9991, doi:10.1016/J.JCP.2011.02.006. http:

//www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S002199911100088X

Troubitsyna, E., L. Laibinis, I. Pereverzeva, T. Kuismin, D. Ilic and T. Latvala (2016), Towards Security-Explicit Formal Modelling of Safety-Critical Systems, in *Lecture Notes in Computer Science (Computer Safety, Reliability, and Security- SAFECOMP 2016)*, Eds. A. Skavhaug, J. Guiochet and F. Bitsch, Springer, Cham, pp. 213–225, doi:10.1007/978-3-319-45477-1{_}17.

http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-319-45477-1_17

Um, J., S. Weyer and F. Quint (2017), Plug-and-Simulate within Modular Assembly Line enabled by Digital Twins and the use of AutomationML, *IFAC-PapersOnLine*, **50**, 1, pp. 15904–15909, ISSN 2405-8963, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ifacol.2017.08.2360. https:

//www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2405896317331762

Uva, G., M. Dassisti, F. Iannone, G. Florio, F. Maddalena, M. Ruta, A. Grieco, I. Giannoccaro, V. Albino, M. Lezoche, A. Aubry, A. Giovannini, A. Buscicchio, Y. Eslami and V. Leggieri (2017), Modelling Framework for Sustainable Co-management of Multi-purpose Exhibition Systems: The "Fiera del Levante" Case, *Procedia Engineering*, 180, pp. 812–821, ISSN 1877-7058, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.proeng.2017.04.242.
https:

//www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1877705817317496

Van Der Auweraer, H., J. Anthonis, S. De Bruyne and J. Leuridan (2013), Virtual engineering at work: The challenges for designing mechatronic products, *Engineering with Computers*, 29, 3, pp. 389–408, doi:10.1007/s00366-012-0286-6.



- Vangheluwe, H., J. De Lara and P. Mosterman (2002), An introduction to multi-paradigm modelling and simulation., in 2002 Conference on AI, Simulation and Planning in High Autonomy Systems (AIS'2002), Eds. F. Giambiasi and N. Barros, Lisboa, Portugal, pp. 9–20. https://biblio.ugent.be/publication/158059
- Vanherpen, K., J. Denil, H. Vangheluwe and P. De Meulenaere (2015), Model transformations for round-trip engineering in control deployment co-design, *Simulation Series*, **47**, 8, pp. 55–62.

https://dl.acm.org/citation.cfm?id=2872973

- Vara Larsen, M. E., J. Deantoni, B. Combemale and F. Mallet (2015), A Behavioral Coordination Operator Language (BCOoL), in 2015 ACM/IEEE 18th International Conference on Model Driven Engineering Languages and Systems, MODELS 2015 - Proceedings, IEEE, pp. 186–195, ISBN 9781467369084, doi:10.1109/MODELS.2015.7338249.
- Varró, D., G. Bergmann, Ã. Hegedüs, Ã. Horváth, I. Ráth and Z. Ujhelyi (2016), Road to a reactive and incremental model transformation platform: three generations of the VIATRA framework, *Software and Systems Modeling*, **15**, 3, pp. 609–629, doi:10.1007/s10270-016-0530-4.
- Vellaithurai, C. B., S. S. Biswas and A. K. Srivastava (2015), Development and Application of a Real-Time Test Bed for Cyber-Physical System, *IEEE Systems Journal*, **11**, 4, pp. 2192 – 2203, ISSN 1932-8184, doi:10.1109/JSYST.2015.2476367. http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/7321773/
- Walch, M. (2017), Knowledge-driven enrichment of cyber-physical systems for industrial applications using the KbR modelling approach, in *2017 IEEE International Conference on Agents (ICA)*, IEEE, Beijing, China, pp. 84–89, doi:10.1109/AGENTS.2017.8015307. https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/8015307
- Wang, W., C. Hu, N. Chen, C. Xiao, C. Wang and Z. Chen (2015), Spatio-temporal enabled urban decision-making process modeling and visualization under the cyber-physical environment, *Science China Information Sciences*, **58**, 10, pp. 1–17, ISSN 1674-733X, doi:10.1007/s11432-015-5403-x.

http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s11432-015-5403-x

Wehrmeister, M. A., E. P. de Freitas, A. P. D. Binotto and C. E. Pereira (2014), Combining aspects and object-orientation in model-driven engineering for distributed industrial mechatronics systems, *Mechatronics*, **24**, 7, pp. 844–865, ISSN 0957-4158, doi:10.1016/J.MECHATRONICS.2013.12.008. http:

//www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0957415813002420

Weissnegger, R., M. Schuss, C. Kreiner, M. Pistauer, K. Römer and C. Steger (2016), Simulation-based Verification of Automotive Safety-critical Systems Based on EAST-ADL, *Procedia Computer Science*, **83**, pp. 245–252, ISSN 1877-0509, doi:10.1016/J.PROCS.2016.04.122. http:

//www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1877050916301454

Woodard, M. and S. Sedigh (2013), Modeling of Autonomous Vehicle Operation in Intelligent Transportation Systems, *Lecture Notes in Computer Science*, **8166**, pp. 133–140, doi:10.1007/978-3-642-40894-6{_}11. http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-642-40894-6_11

Yin, H., F. Giaimo, H. Andrade, C. Berger and I. Crnkovic (2016), Adaptive Message Restructuring Using Model-Driven Engineering, *Information Technology: New Generations*, 448, pp. 773–783, doi:10.1007/978-3-319-32467-8{_}67. http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-319-32467-8_67



- Yu, H., J.-P. Talpin, S. Shukla, P. Joshi and S. Shiraishi (2014), Towards an architecture-centric approach dedicated to model-based virtual integration for embedded software systems, in *CEUR Workshop Proceedings, Workshop on Architecture Centric Virtual Integration*, volume 1233, CEUR, Valencia, Spain, volume 1233, doi:10.13140/2.1.2277.9686.
- Zhang, C., A. Romagnoli, L. Zhou and M. Kraft (2017a), Knowledge management of eco-industrial park for efficient energy utilization through ontology-based approach, *Applied Energy*, **204**, pp. 1412–1421, ISSN 0306-2619, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2017.03.130. https:

//www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0306261917303756

- Zhang, L. (2013), View oriented approach to specify and model aerospace cyber-physical systems, in *Proceedings 2013 IEEE 11th International Conference on Dependable, Autonomic and Secure Computing, DASC 2013,* IEEE, Chengdu, China, pp. 296–303, ISBN 9781479933815, doi:10.1109/DASC.2013.78.
- Zhang, L. (2014), Convergence of physical system and cyber system modeling methods for aviation cyber physical control system, in 2014 IEEE International Conference on Information and Automation (ICIA), Hailar, China, pp. 542–547, doi:10.1109/ICInfA.2014.6932714.
- Zhang, L. and S. Feng (2014), Integration design and model transformation for cyber physical systems, in *2014 IEEE 5th International Conference on Software Engineering and Service Science*, Beijing, China, pp. 754–757, doi:10.1109/ICSESS.2014.6933676.
- Zhang, M., S. Ali, T. Yue, R. Norgren and O. Okariz (2017b), Uncertainty-Wise Cyber-Physical System test modeling, *Software and Systems Modeling*, pp. 1–40, ISSN 16191374, doi:10.1007/s10270-017-0609-6.

http://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10270-017-0609-6

Zhang, Z. and X. Koutsoukos (2013), Modeling Time-Triggered Ethernet in SystemC/TLM for Virtual Prototyping of Cyber-Physical Systems, Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 318–330, doi:10.1007/978-3-642-38853-8{_}29.

http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-642-38853-8_29

ZHU, W., F. ZHU and G. RONG (2014), A Novel Mechanism for TRF of Plant-wide Material Flows in Process Industry MES, *Chinese Journal of Chemical Engineering*, **22**, 4, pp. 418–428, ISSN 1004-9541, doi:10.1016/S1004-9541(14)60091-4. http:

//www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1004954114600914